
 
 

(Established pursuant to section 103 of the Local Democracy, Economic Development  
and Construction Act 2009 as the Halton, Knowsley, Liverpool, St Helens, Sefton  

and Wirral Combined Authority) 

 
MEETING OF THE LIVERPOOL CITY REGION  

AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 
 

 
 
To: The Members of the Audit and Governance Committee 
 
Dear Member, 
 
You are requested to attend a meeting of the Audit and Governance Committee 
to be held on Wednesday, 25th January, 2023 at 2.00pm in the Authority 
Chamber - No.1 Mann Island, Liverpool, L3 1BP. 
 
The meeting will be live webcast. To access the webcast please go to the 
Combined Authority’s website at the time of the meeting and follow the 
instructions on the page. 
 
If you have any queries regarding this meeting, please contact Trudy Bedford 
on telephone number (0151) 330 1086. 
 

Yours faithfully 

 
Chief Executive  

 
WEBCASTING NOTICE 

 
This meeting will be filmed by the Combined Authority for live and/or 
subsequent broadcast on the Combined Authority’s website. The whole of the 
meeting will be filmed, except where there are confidential or exempt items.  
 
If you do not wish to have your image captured or if you have any queries 
regarding the webcasting of the meeting please contact the Democratic 
Services Officer on the above number or email 
mailto:democratic.services@merseytravel.gov.ukdemocratic.services@liverpool
cityregion-ca.gov.uk.  
 
 A Fair Processing Notice is available on the Combined Authority’s website at 
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Fair-Processing-
Notice-CA-Meeting-Video-Recording.pdf 
 

mailto:democratic.services@merseytravel.gov.uk
mailto:democratic.services@merseytravel.gov.uk
mailto:democratic.services@merseytravel.gov.uk
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Fair-Processing-Notice-CA-Meeting-Video-Recording.pdf
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Fair-Processing-Notice-CA-Meeting-Video-Recording.pdf


 
AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 

 
AGENDA 

 
 

1 APOLOGIES  

   

2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

   

3 MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 30 NOVEMBER 2022  

  (Pages 1 - 6) 

4 APPOINTMENT OF VICE-CHAIR  

   

5 AUDIT PROGRESS UPDATE  

 To consider an update from Mazars, the External Auditors. 

  (Pages 7 - 20) 

6 ANTI-MONEY LAUNDERING PROTOCOL  

 The purpose of this report is to present the revised and updated Anti-
Money Laundering Protocol for the approval of the Committee. 

  (Pages 21 - 56) 

7 INTERNAL AUDIT UPDATE  

 The purpose of this report is to provide the Combined Authority Audit and 
Governance Committee with an overview of the internal audit work 
completed in the third and fourth quarters of 2022-23, in accordance with 
the Internal Audit Plan 2022-23. 

  (Pages 57 - 86) 

8 RISK MANAGEMENT UPDATE  

 The purpose of this report is to provide the Combined Authority Audit and 
Governance Committee with an update in respect of the system of 
corporate risk management and the activity that has been undertaken in 
continuing to embed this system during the third and fourth quarters of 
2022-23. 

  (Pages 87 - 110) 
 

 



LCR AUDIT & GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 
 

 
At a meeting of the LCR Audit & Governance Committee held in the Authority 

Chamber - No.1 Mann Island, Liverpool, L3 1BP on Wednesday, 30th November, 2022 the 
following Members were 
 

P r e s e n t: 
 

Councillor Edna Finneran 
Chairperson of the Committee 

(in the Chair) 
 
Councillor Mike Wharton, LCR Combined Authority 
Councillor David Burgess-Joyce, LCR Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
Councillor Pat Moloney, LCR Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
Councillor Tricia O’Brien (Substitute Member), LCR Overview and Scrutiny Committee  
 
22 APOLOGIES  
 
Apologies for absence were received on behalf of Councillor Graham Morgan and 
Independent Member, Jean Gleave. 
 
23 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest submitted. 
 
24 MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING  
 
The minutes of the previous meeting held on 29 September 2022 were approved as an 
accurate record.   
 
 
25 AUDIT COMMITTEE FUNCTION  
 
Louise Outram, Deputy Monitoring Officer and Deputy Legal Chief Officer, stated that this 
report advised Members of changes to the Terms of Reference for this Committee that the 
Combined Authority had made at one of its recent meetings.  
 
It was proposed to incorporate Merseytravel into the scope of the Committee’s Terms of 
Reference. Merseytravel was deemed to be an officer of the Combined Authority and it had 
had alternative audit committee arrangements but the Combined Authority had determined 
that this Committee should have oversight of Merseytravel matters.    
 
RESOLVED – That the contents of the report and the revised terms of reference as agreed 
by the Combined Authority be noted. 
 
26 INTERNAL AUDIT UPDATE  
 
Laura Williams, Head of Internal Audit, advised that this was the regular report that the 
Committee received in respect of the work of the Internal Audit section as at Quarter Three of 
2022/23.  
 
As outlined in the report the work that had been completed within that period supplied the 
Committee with the relevant assurances. The Committee should note that there had been 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



five pieces of audit work completed in the period and the details of that were provided within 
the report. It should also be noted that the work in terms of following up on implementation of 
previous recommendations continued and summaries of that were also provided in the 
report.  

 
RESOLVED- That the report be noted.  
 
27 ANNUAL FRAUD UPDATE  
 
Laura Williams, Head of Internal Audit, stated that this report updated on the annual fraud 
activities during the year and was a summary and culmination of the work that had been 
undertaken during the year in respect of prevention, detection and deterrent of fraud, bribery 
and corruption. 
 
She highlighted a number of further points as follows: 
 
(1) The reflection within the Annual Self-Assessment around managing the risk of fraud 

in local government and the increase in the compliance with that document from 40% 
last year to around 80% this year which was mainly due to the fact that an extensive 
fraud awareness campaign had taken place over the last year and also the revision 
and update of the Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Strategy and the addition of many 
details which helped in terms of compliance with the guidance.  

(2) Also included within the report were various details in terms of the proactive and 
reactive Internal Audit work that had been undertaken during the last year and the 
remaining items of the Counter Fraud Protocols had also been reviewed but there 
were no changes made and were presented simply for information.   

(3) The only item not presented in the suite of protocols was the Anti-Money Laundering 
Protocol. Some audit work had been undertaken recently in that area and the 
opportunity was taken to do a more fundamental review which unfortunately had not 
as yet been concluded and therefore it would be brought to the next meeting.  

 
Councillor David Burgess-Joyce noted that a lot of excellent work had taken place around 
this and fraud awareness was very useful. His concern was around whistle-blowers and the 
fact that procedures had been put in place to make them feel more comfortable about 
coming forward. He asked if further consideration could be given to making whistle-blowers 
feel even more comfortable so that coming forward would not jeopardise their own careers 
and wellbeing.  

 
Laura Williams responded that the Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Strategy was owned by the 
Chief Executive and Directors and which set out that there was a zero approach to fraud and 
that all reasonable steps would be taken to ensure that fraud was prevented, detected and 
deterred. She thought that was very important in terms of setting the tone corporately and the 
culture around fraud. One of the main routes by which the organisation could be made aware 
of fraud was through whistle-blowers. It was therefore very important that through reviewing 
and looking at the Whistle-blowing Policy on an annual basis, making sure that staff were 
aware of the provisions within the policy and also by completing their Fraud Awareness 
training, that confidence was built up within the provisions of the policy to protect staff if they 
felt that they wanted to come forward with a concern. It was also about encouraging them 
that if they did come forward that that concern would be welcomed. She thought that there 
was a number of ways that could be done such as through the Fraud Awareness training and 
continually reminding staff of their obligations and responsibilities in that if there was a 
concern it was not acceptable to stay quiet and it was expected that those concerns would 
be brought forward. It was also about how those whistle-blowing concerns were received and 
making sure that within the policy there was a variety of routes whereby the concern could be 
made. So she felt that it was a multi-pronged approach through fraud awareness and making 

Page 2



sure training was in place which emphasised these points and ensuring that a strong policy 
and strategy in place which was focused in terms of those items.   
 
Councillor David Burgess-Joyce asked how many people, in the four years that she had 
been in post, had actually blown the whistle? Laura Williams confirmed that she was not 
aware of any within that period.  
 
RESOLVED - That: 
 
(i) the report be noted; 
(ii) the revised and updated Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Strategy be approved; and 
(iii) it be noted that the following counter-fraud protocols had been reviewed but no 

significant changes requiring the approval of the Committee had been made: 
 

 Anti-Bribery Protocol 

 Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Protocol 

 Surveillance Protocol  

 Investigation Protocol 
 
28 RISK MANAGEMENT UPDATE  
 
Laura Williams, Head of Internal Audit, presented a report which provided an update in 
respect of the system of corporate risk management and the activity that had been 
undertaken in continuing to embed this system during the third quarter of 2022-23. 
 
In the period the team had facilitated the Executive Leadership Team to review the Corporate 
Risk Register the details of which had been presented in the report. It was noted that there 
had not been any significant changes made but a number of actions had been closed and it 
was now about looking at the next phase of actions particularly around the resilience risk and 
what that might look like moving forward. The aim was to continually sharpen up those 
actions in respect of how the organisation responded to the identified risks and to make sure 
that those risks were being dealt with appropriately.  
 
It was also noted that within the report there was an update in terms of the other activities 
that had been and were being undertaken in continuing to embed that system of risk 
management. Key to this was facilitating those review sessions with the Executive 
Leadership Team but also in the development of a Risk Management Skills training package 
the first one of which had taken place in October and had been well received.  

 
The other area that had been notable was that within the organisation a very successful risk 
group had been developed which had identified a couple of the key or common risks across 
the organisation. The group had been used as an opportunity to identify those risks and to 
think about what the organisational response to those risks should be and to convene some 
short- life task and finish groups to develop some approaches to them. A couple of examples 
had been included in the report particularly around the supply chain issues the organisation 
was facing.  

 
Councillor Mike Wharton referred to the risk around resilience where the residual risk was 
high at 20 but there was a RAG rating in green which he did not understand given that this 
was a really important risk for the organisation. The control measures were listed but they did 
not appear to be having a great impact on the residual risk and he asked if he could have an 
explanation on that.  

 

Page 3



Laura Williams replied that in terms of the RAG rating it related to the progress in terms of 
the actions. Some good progress had been made in respect of the actions and a number had 
been closed or were in the process of being completed. As previously mentioned there was a 
need to take a fresh look as although a number of actions had been completed there would 
still be new actions that would need to be to identified to address this risk. It was difficult to 
explain the impact of controls until they had been tested and obviously there had been some 
live examples over the years which had tested our resilience as an organisation. She felt that 
there was a continuing concern which justified the 20 residual score as should a significant 
unforeseen event happen there would still be a concern that that would jeopardise the 
organisation’s resilience for a period. However, she was confident that steps were being 
taken to address that and provide further confidence. The focus on this risk should be that 
once the right actions had been developed and implemented the authority should be in a 
position where this risk could be brought right down so that it was not included as a corporate 
risk. The key element moving forward with this risk would be reflecting on how far the 
organisation had come and the impact of the actions that were being completed but also 
thinking about what the next phase of actions would be and she hoped to be able to bring 
that to the next meeting. It would provide a clear view of how realistic that was and what the 
timeframe would be in bringing the organisation closer to the target score of 8.  

 
Councillor Pat Maloney noted that it had been a tumultuous year in terms of inflation similar 
to the 1970’s where the impact of that had been phenomenal. The country was experiencing 
fuel cost rises which directly affected transport, the cost of living crisis and the effect that 
would have on employees and customers and some of that was inter-linked with Russia’s 
invasion of Ukraine. He wondered what impact those factors would have in terms of the 
elements on the Risk Register.  

 
Laura Williams responded that a long discussion had taken place with the Executive 
Leadership Team about this issue and it had also been discussed previously at this 
Committee. One of the things that had been focused on was the financial sustainability risk 
and the ability as an organisation to be financially sustainable and to mitigate the negative 
impact of whatever financial pressures came along. The conclusion reached was that the 
score of 20 was felt to be appropriate but again the focus had got to be on the actions. It was 
about having that dynamic medium term financial plan which was being developed. It was 
about building those resilience concerns around how the world looked now and how it might 
look in the future into the Action Plan to provide the ability to flex and to develop the plan so 
that it accommodated those pressures in order to enable the authority to make the best of 
the situation. Reference had also been made in the actions around delivery of budgeting 
efficiencies and income opportunities and again it was about how it approached these 
challenges moving forward. It was appreciated that it would be necessary to make some 
efficiencies in our own organisation and within our own operations but again as part of the 
budget setting process that was being considered. She thought that it was about progressing 
with those actions and implicit within those actions was accounting for the financial pressures 
that had been outlined as they would certainly have an impact. That was the area which 
needed to be focused on and there would undoubtedly be some significant challenges.    
 
RESOLVED- That the report be noted.  
 
29 LCRCA EXTERNAL AUDIT 21/22  
 
Sarah Johnston, Assistant Director of Finance, presented a report which built on a previous 
audit update given to the Committee in September 2022 which demonstrated the progress 
which was being made against the annual external audit. The report outlined the timescales 
for the production and audit of the accounts and at paragraphs 3.3 and 3.4 it noted that whilst 
the audit had progressed well and was substantially complete there were a couple of areas 
outstanding. There was a national issue around infrastructure assets which meant that the 

Page 4



audit could not be completed until there was a practical solution to this issue which was likely 
to be in the New Year. The other issue to note was that the Value for Money assessment had 
been decoupled from the main audit opinion so again that would be delivered later in the 
year. This meant that the accounts would come back to the Committee at a later point when 
all of those issues had been resolved.  
 
Mark Dalton, Director – Public Services, Mazars, confirmed that the report would be taken as 
read but he took the opportunity to highlight a number of key points. He referred to page 297 
of the agenda where the Committee would be pleased to note that subject to the limited 
outstanding work it was anticipated that a clean unqualified opinion would be issued on the 
financial statements. The accounts that had been presented for audit were of a good quality 
and only a few minor amendments had been identified through the audit process. The 
misstatements included one that remained unadjusted, and the Committee would be asked 
through the Letter of Representation to confirm that they were content with Management’s 
position not to adjust the accounts. He confirmed that the External Auditors were content with 
Management’s position, but it was up to the Committee to confirm that that was the case.  
 
As had been highlighted in the covering report there were two main areas of work that 
remained outstanding which did prevent signing off the accounts at this time. There was a 
sector-wide technical issue in relation to accounting for infrastructure assets which was not 
expected to be resolved until the end of December and also the late receipt of assurance 
from the Pension Fund auditors which had only been received on Friday. Both of those 
issues were outside of Management and External Audit control and other than those two 
main factors the Financial Statements Audit was substantially complete for the Combined 
Authority and Merseytravel. It had been highlighted that the Value for Money work was not 
being reported at this time consistent with the discretion from the NAO and that would be 
reported within the next couple of months or early in the New Year. He thanked the Finance 
Team for a good set of accounts and also for the assistance provided throughout the audit.  
 
Dawn Watson, Mazars, took the Committee through some of the detail in the audit 
completion report.  
 
Councillor David Burgess-Joyce referred to page 299 of the pack where he noted that there 
was only one ‘amber’. His question was that some of the ‘greens’ did not appear to have 
been finalised and some appeared to be work in progress. He wondered whether any 
blockages had been found and also when would the Committee know that that they had 
been completed. He thought that the ‘green’ rating might refer to the risk, but he was 
interested to know how that would be brought back to the table. He also noted that a lot of 
discussion had taken place around fraud and whistle-blowers and he would be interested to 
know from an industry-wide perspective what could possibly be done differently.  
 
Mark Dalton responded that in relation to page 299 an Audit Completion Report follow up 
letter would be brought back to this Committee which would provide an update against all of 
the areas highlighted as outstanding. In terms of the RAG rating all it was seeking to 
communicate to Committee Members was the risk of a material misstatement that might 
arise from the work that was outstanding. Councillor Burgess-Joyce had been right to 
highlight that, however, most of them were ‘green’ which highlighted that they were unlikely 
to give rise to a material misstatement. The ‘amber’ one related to infrastructure assets 
because of the highly material nature of those figures within the accounts. In relation to the 
second question through the Value for Money work the audit would look at the authority’s 
arrangements which included counter fraud arrangements. It would be helpful if Councillor 
Burgess-Joyce could wait until the New Year when the Value for Money commentary would 
be received in relation to the authority’s arrangements which did include fraud and 
corruption.  
 

Page 5



RESOLVED - That: 
 
(i) the substantial progress made on the completion of the external audit for the Combined 

Authority be noted; 
(ii) the draft Audit Completion Report be noted; 
(iii) an update would be provided to the Committee once the audit process had been 

completed; and 
(iv) the accounts as drafted be recommended to the Combined Authority. 
 

 
The meeting closed at 2.31 pm 

 
Minutes 22 to 29 be received as a correct record on the 25th day of January 2023. 
 

 

Chairperson of the Committee 
 
 
 

 

Page 6



 
Report Title 

 
Audit Progress Update  
 

Portfolio Holder 
 

Not Applicable  

Summary of report  To consider an update from Mazars, which 
provides the Committee with an update on their 
progress in delivering their responsibilities as 
the External Auditors.  
 

Is this report exempt? No  
 

Local Authorities affected  
 

All 

Impact and implications of this report 
 

 

Financial impact 
 

No 

Delegation (s) sought  
 

None 

Supporting the Corporate Plan  
 
Tick/x as appropriate  

A Fairer City Region  √  

A Stronger City Region  √  

A Cleaner City Region  √  

A Connected City Region  √  

A Vibrant City Region √  

Climate Change Implications 
 

No 

Equality and Diversity implications 
 

No 

Social Value implications  
 

No  
 

Human Resources implications 
 

No 

Physical Assets implications 
 

No  

Information Technology implications No 
 

Legal implications 
 

No  

Risk and Mitigation No 
 

Privacy implications 
 

No  

Communication and consultation 
implications 

No  

Contact Officer(s) Trudy Bedford, Principal Democratic Services 
Officer  

Appendices Yes 
 

Background Documents No  
 

 

Page 7

Agenda Item 5



  

Page 8



 

LCR Audit & Governance Committee 
 

Wednesday, 25 January 2023 
 

Report of Mazars, External Auditors  
 

AUDIT PROGRESS UPDATE  
 

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1. This report provides the Committee with an update on Mazars progress in delivering 

their responsibilities as the Combined Authority’s External Auditors, the detail of 
which is set out at Appendix One.  

 
1.2 Appendix One also includes a summary of recent national reports and publications.  
 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1. It is recommended that the LCR Audit and Governance Committee note the update. 

  
 
3. BACKGROUND    
 
3.1. To support the Committee in the discharge of its duties, this report provides a 

summary of Mazars progress against their audit plan and details of key national 
reports and publications.  

 
 

4. CONCLUSION 
 
4.1 The Authority’s external audit is underway and External Auditors, Mazars are 

making progress against their audit plan, the details of which are included in 
appendix one.  
 

 
MAZARS 

External Auditor 
 

Appendices: 
 
1 Audit Progress Report - Mazars 
 
Background Documents:  
 
None 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Audit Progress Report

P
age 11



2

1. Audit Progress

2. National publications

P
age 12



Section 01:

Audit Progress

P
age 13



4

Audit progress
Purpose of this report

This report provides the Audit and Governance Committee with an update on progress in delivering our responsibilities as your external auditors. It also includes, at Section 2, a summary of recent 

national reports and publications for your information..  

2020/21 audit

We completed our audit of the financial statements and signed our unqualified audit opinion on 5 November 2021.

We completed our work on the Authority’s value for money (VFM) arrangements in July 2022. There were no significant weaknesses identified. Our Auditor's Annual Report for 2020/21, which 

provides a summary of our work for the year ending 31 March 2021 and our VFM commentary, was issued on the 26 July 2022.

Our one remaining responsibility in respect of the 2020/21 financial year is a review of the Authority’s whole of government accounts (WGA) return.  We have received the NAO  group instructions 

and are currently waiting on confirmation of sample audits to be tested. Once the NAO has confirmed this, we will liaise with Officers to complete any work we are required to do. Following this, we 

will issue our Audit Certificate to formally close the 2020/21 audit.

2021/22 audit

During the early part of  2022, we completed our initial planning work and early substantive testing for the 2021/22 audit. Following this we presented our Audit Strategy Memorandum to the July 

2022 Audit and Governance Committee meeting, setting out the audit risks we identified in respect of the 2021/22 financial statements. There has been no change to our risk assessment since 

issuing our Audit Strategy Memorandum. 

We received the Authority’s draft Accounts and annual governance statement in July 2022, in line with the timetable agreed with Officers and the national timetable. Our fieldwork commenced on 1 

August 2022, and is substantially complete. We reported our findings from our audit to the November Audit and Governance Committee meeting and details of those items that remained 

outstanding. We will issue a follow up letter to this Committee following the completion of the outstanding work. including the resolution of a national technical issue in respect of accounting for 

infrastructure assets detailed below.

Committee members will recall, from previous progress reports to this Committee, the ongoing accounting issue in relation to infrastructure assets. CIPFA had highlighted that there were 
differences nationally in the way Local Government bodies have been accounting for infrastructure assets and compliance with the requirements of the Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting (the Code). The value of LCRCA’s Infrastructure Assets is £247m and it is likely therefore that the impact of any aspects of LCRCA’s accounting that may not be compliant with the 
Code (as currently drafted), would be material. 

CIPFA established a Task and Finish Group to consider this matter further and to identify a solution including potentially a change to the Code. Consultation took place in the summer of 2022 but 
CIPFA was not able to agree its proposed accounting solution. To unlock the situation, the Government consulted, in November 2022, on an optional temporary Statutory Override to allow Local 
Government bodies to prepare accounts that are materially correct. The date when this Statutory Instrument took effect was 25 December 2022. CIPFA guidance notes on the application of the 
Statutory Instrument are expected in early January but as at the 10 January remain outstanding. Once the guidance notes are issued, we will work with Management to understand the impact on 
LCRCA’s accounts and to undertake the required audit work as soon as possible.  

We plan to complete and report our Value for Money arrangements work within three months of the date of our audit opinion on the financial statements (in line with National Audit Office (NAO) 
guidance). 

P
age 14



Section 02:

National publications

P
age 15



National publications

Publication/update Key points

Financial Reporting Council (FRC)

1 FRC Major Local Audit Inspection Report Outcome of the FRC inspection of audit quality from 2020/21 audits

Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountability (CIPFA)

2
Audit Committees: Practical Guidance For Local 

Authorities And Police (2022 edition)
Guidance for Audit Committees

National Audit Office (NAO)

3
Introducing Integrated Care Systems: joining up local 

services to improve health outcomes
Overview of Integrated Care Systems

4 A guide to corporate finance in the public sector A good practice insight guide for senior leadership

6

P
age 16



NATIONAL PUBLICATIONS

Financial Reporting Council

7

1. FRC Major Local Audit Inspection Report - October 2022

The FRC is responsible for monitoring the quality of the audits of the largest health and local 
government entities (called Major Local Audits or MLAs). They do this by annually inspecting  a 
sample of MLAs from each of the audit firms who deliver this work. In their most recent 
publication, they reported on their review of 20 MLAs, three of which related to Mazars. The 
ICAEW also reviewed 17 non-MLAs (none from Mazars).

Overall, the FRC found that the number of audits categorised as good or limited improvements 
required has remained consistent with the prior year. However, there was an increase in the 
number of audits assessed as requiring significant improvements and they deemed this as 
unacceptable. 

For Mazars, the FRC found that all 3 2021.22 files reviewed met the expected standards.

This was the second successive year of 100% compliance for Mazars. 

Whilst the sample size is small and focused on the higher risk audits, these strong outcomes  
reflect the investment we have made in people, technical expertise, specialists (such as 
building an in-house valuation team) and strengthening our audit methodology. Maintaining 
and improving audit quality is a key objective of the firm and our investment will continue. 

P
age 17



NATIONAL PUBLICATIONS

CIPFA

2. Audit Committees: Practical Guidance For Local Authorities And Police (2022 edition), October 2022

Audit committees are a key component of governance. Their purpose is to provide an independent and high-level focus on the adequacy of governance, risk and control arrangements. They play 
an important role in supporting leadership teams, elected representatives, police and crime commissioners and chief constables.

This edition updates CIPFA’s 2018 publication to complement the 2022 edition of the CIPFA Position Statement on audit committees.

The suite of publications has separate guidance resources for audit committee members in authorities, members of police audit committees, and a supplement for those responsible for guiding the 
committee.

New aspects include legislation changes in Wales and new expectations in England following the Redmond Review. All authorities and police bodies are encouraged to use the publication to 
review and develop their arrangements in accordance with the Position Statement.

The appendices include suggested terms of reference, a knowledge and skills framework and effectiveness improvement tools.

https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/a/audit-committees-practical-guidance-for-local-authorities-and-police-2022-edition

10 January 2023 8

P
age 18

https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/a/audit-committees-practical-guidance-for-local-authorities-and-police-2022-edition


NATIONAL PUBLICATIONS

National Audit Office

3. Introducing Integrated Care Systems: joining up local services to improve health outcomes, October 2022

Integrated Care Systems (ICSs) bring together NHS, local government and other partner organisations to plan and deliver integrated services to improve the health of the local population. There 
are 42 ICSs covering the whole of England, ranging in size from 542,000 people to 3.51 million. ICSs were introduced into legislation by the Health and Care Act 2022, the relevant provisions of 
which took effect from 1 July 2022.

This report examines the setup of ICSs by DHSC, NHS England (NHSE), and their partners and the risks they must manage. Unlike many National Audit Office reports, this is not an assessment of 
whether the programme has secured good value for money to date because ICSs have only recently taken statutory form. Instead, it is an assessment of where they are starting from and the 
challenges and opportunities ahead. NAO makes recommendations intended to help manage those risks and realise those opportunities.

The summary provides the key findings, our conclusion on ICSs’ likely success, and our recommendations. The rest of the report sets out:

• an introduction to ICSs, describing their structure, objectives, and governance arrangements (Part One);

• an overview of the positions that ICSs are starting from, in terms of finances, staffing and activity levels, and some of the wider challenges facing the health and care sector (Part Two); and

• an examination of government’s efforts to improve population health through better integration and a focus on prevention, and our assessment of ICSs’ prospects for success this time (Part 
Three). Introducing Integrated Care Systems: joining up local services to improve health outcomes.

https://www.nao.org.uk/reports/introducing-integrated-care-systems-joining-up-local-services-to-improve-health-outcomes/

4. A guide to corporate finance in the public sector, September 2022

Corporate finance is a complex and specialist topic. NAO examined corporate finance transactions and the organisations performing these for more than 35 years. There are many factors senior 

leaders must consider to ensure public bodies manage the risks and benefits to taxpayers when using corporate finance techniques.

The interactive guide contains useful insights from 139 NAO reports and sets out key questions for senior decision-makers to consider when overseeing corporate finance activities. It may also be 

of interest to professionals supporting the government to deliver a range of transactions, including commercial investments, loans and guarantees.

https://www.nao.org.uk/insights/guide-to-corporate-finance-in-the-public-sector/

10 January 2023 9

P
age 19

https://www.nao.org.uk/reports/introducing-integrated-care-systems-joining-up-local-services-to-improve-health-outcomes/
https://www.nao.org.uk/insights/guide-to-corporate-finance-in-the-public-sector/


Mazars

Mazars is an internationally integrated partnership, specialising in audit, accountancy, advisory, tax 

and legal services*. Operating in over 90 countries and territories around the world, we draw on the 

expertise of 40,400 professionals – 24,400 in Mazars’ integrated partnership and 16,000 via the 

Mazars North America Alliance – to assist clients of all sizes at every stage in their development.

*where permitted under applicable country laws.

www.mazars.com

Director: Mark Dalton

Email:  mark.dalton@mazars.co.uk

LinkedIn:

www.linkedin.com/company/Mazars

Twitter:

www.twitter.com/MazarsGroup

Facebook:

www.facebook.com/MazarsGroup

Instagram:

www.instagram.com/MazarsGroup

WeChat:

ID: Mazars

Contact Follow us:

Audit Manager: Dawn Watson

Email:  dawn.watson@mazars.co.uk

P
age 20



 
Report Title 

 
Anti-Money Laundering Protocol 
 

Portfolio Holder 
 

Portfolio Holder for Policy, Reform and 
Resources 
 

Summary of decision being sought  Approval of the revised Anti-Money Laundering 
Protocol 
 

Is this report exempt?   No  
 

Is this a Key Decision 
 

No 

Local Authorities affected  
 

None directly 

 
Impact and implications of this report 
 
Financial impact 
 

No                    

Dispensation of decision sought and 
details of approval  

 

Supporting the Corporate Plan  
 
Tick which ones are appropriate  

A Fairer City Region   
A Stronger City Region   
A Cleaner City Region   
A Connected City Region   
A Vibrant City Region 
 

 

Climate Change Implications 
 

No 

Equality and Diversity implications 
 

No 

Social Value implications  
 

No  
 

Human Resources implications 
 

No 

Physical Assets implications 
 

No  

Information Technology implications No 
 

Legal implications 
 

Yes  

Privacy implications 
 

No  

Communication and consultation 
implications 

No  

Contact Officer(s) Laura A. Williams, Head of Internal Audit 
laura.williams@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk 
07713 095315  

Appendices Yes  
Background Documents No 

  

Page 21

Agenda Item 6

mailto:laura.williams@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk


LCR Audit and Governance Committee 
 

Wednesday 25 January 2023 
 

Report of the Head of Internal Audit 
 

ANTI-MONEY LAUNDERING PROTOCOL 
 
 

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to present the revised and updated Anti-Money 

Laundering Protocol for the approval of the Committee. 
 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 It is recommended that the Audit and Governance Committee approves the revised 

and updated Anti-Money Laundering Protocol. 
 
3. BACKGROUND    
 
3.1 Internal Audit maintains a suite of counter-fraud protocols for the organisation, and 

these are reviewed annually.  The Committee approved the revised protocols at its 
November 2022 meeting, at which it was noted that further work was being 
undertaken on the Anti-Money Laundering Protocol and that this would be 
presented to the Committee for approval once this work was completed. 

 
3.2 Following an Internal Audit review of staff awareness of anti-money laundering 

procedures, the Protocol has been fully revised and expanded to provide a greatly 
increased level of guidance to officers. It is hoped that this will increase the level of 
awareness of the procedures and make it easier for staff to understand and comply 
with the requirements. 

 
 3.3 The key changes to the document are: 

 Provision of more detailed explanation of procedures to be followed by 
officers, including an explanatory flowchart 

 Inclusion of recording forms for due diligence activities 

 Increasing the threshold at which client identification procedures are applied 
for cash payments from £2500 to €15,000 (approximately £12,900) which 
brings the threshold in line with legal requirements 

 Addition of an offences table to clarify the legal provisions of the Proceeds of 
Crime Act 2002 

 Review and update of the Money Laundering Reporting Form and addition of 
a deputy Money Laundering Reporting Officer (MLRO) who can receive 
reports in the event of absence of the MLRO, the Head of Internal Audit. 

  

Page 22



 
4. IMPACT AND IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 Legal Implications 
 

Local Authorities have a statutory duty to have arrangements in place for the proper 
administration of their financial affairs under the Local Government Act 1972. Part of 
discharging this duty relates to ensuring that effective arrangements are in place to 
prevent, detect and deter fraud.  Money laundering is a criminal offence defined in 
legislation.  
 

4.2 Risks and Mitigation 
  
 The risk of being implicated in money laundering is present in many organisations, 

although the risk for a Combined Authority is generally low.  This Anti-Money 
Laundering Protocol details the procedures that should be followed by the 
organisation in managing this risk. 

 
 
5. CONCLUSION 
 
5.1 The Anti-Money Laundering Protocol has been revised and updated, with the 

objective of increasing staff awareness, understanding and compliance with money 
laundering responsibilities. 

 
 

LAURA A. WILLIAMS 
Head of Internal Audit 

Appendices: 
 
Appendix 1 – Anti-Money Laundering Protocol 
 
Background Documents:  
 
None 
 
 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Anti-Money Laundering Protocol 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Document Owner Head of Internal Audit 

Document Version v5.3 

Approved By Audit and Governance Committee:  
25 January 2023 

Merseytravel: to be confirmed 

Created Date August 2015 

Reviewed Date January 2023 

Date of Next Review November 2023 

 
This document is the property of the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority 

(LCRCA) and Merseytravel. It may not be reproduced or used for any other 
purpose that that for which it is supplied without the written permission of 

LCRCA and Merseytravel. 
 

Uncontrolled when printed – for latest version, please check One Place 

Page 25



 
 

Anti-Money Laundering Protocol Page | 1 
 

Contents 
 
 
 Page 
 

 Version Control 2 
 

1. Purpose 3 
 
2. Statement 3 
 
3. Scope 3 
 
4. Evaluation 3 
 
5. Roles and Responsibilities 4 

 
6. Implications 4 

 
7. Procedures 7 

 

8. Making a Report 10 
 

9. Record-Keeping 12 
 

10.  Appendices 
 

Appendix A: Offences Table 14 
 
Appendix B: Customer Due Diligence Flowchart 16 
 
Appendix C: Client Identification Procedure Recording Form 17 
 
Appendix D: Customer Due Diligence Recording Form 20 

 
Appendix E: Money Laundering Reporting Form 24

 
 
 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 26



 
 

Anti-Money Laundering Protocol Page | 2 
 

Version Control 
 

Version Date Author Comment 

v5.3 January 2023 Laura A. Williams Partial rewrite and 
addition of 
appendices 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 27



 
 

Anti-Money Laundering Protocol Page | 3 
 

1.  Purpose 
 
1.1 This protocol aims to ensure the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority and 

Merseytravel (hereafter referred to as “the Organisations”) meets statutory 
obligations and have a planned approach to prevent, deter and detect money 
laundering. 

 

2.  Statement 
 
2.1 This protocol demonstrates the Organisations’ commitment to preventing 

money laundering and mitigating the risk of the Organisations, or any employee 
of the Organisations, being implicated in money laundering and related criminal 
offences.  

 
2.2 As a public body, the risk of being a target for money laundering is low, and 

whilst some aspects of the legal and regulatory requirements do not apply to 
public bodies, the scale and scope of services provided by the Organisations is 
such that it is not wholly immune to the risk.  The consequences of the 
Organisations or any of its employees facing prosecution under the money 
laundering legislation would be very serious and cause reputational damage not 
only to the individual(s) involved, but to the Organisations as a whole. 

 
2.3 In order to provide an appropriate response to this risk, the Organisations 

have embraced the underlying principles of the money laundering legislation.  
 
2.4 The procedures contained within the document (see section 7) are designed to 

provide practical guidance to employees in assessing the risk of money 
laundering and applying the principles to cash and non-cash transactions, 
including the actions to take in the event of a money laundering concern. 

 
2.5 The Organisations encourage Executive Directors and employees to report any 

concerns about money laundering in the Organisations. 
 
2.6 The Organisations will fully support the National Crime Agency, the Police, and 

other external agencies in any investigations regarding money laundering. 
 

3.  Scope 

 
3.1 This protocol applies to all Members of the Combined Authority, all employees 

including temporary and agency staff, and all those acting on behalf of the 
Organisations, such as consultants. 

 

4.  Evaluation 
 
4.1 This protocol will be reviewed and updated on an annual basis by the Head of 

Internal Audit.  In the case of significant changes, the protocol will be presented 
for approval to the Audit and Governance Committee and Merseytravel.  

Page 28



 
 

Anti-Money Laundering Protocol Page | 4 
 

However, as a minimum, the protocol will be presented for re-approval every 
five years. 

 

5.  Roles and Responsibilities 
 
5.1 The Head of Internal Audit acts as the Organisations’ Money Laundering 

Reporting Officer (MLRO) and is responsible for deploying this protocol across 
the Organisations, monitoring its implementation, and taking appropriate action in 
the event of a money laundering report being made. The Head of Internal Audit 
can be contacted as follows: 
 
Head of Internal Audit 
7th floor  
1 Mann Island 
Liverpool L3 1BP 
Telephone: 07713 095315 

 
5.2 In the event of the absence of the Head of Internal Audit, the Audit Manager can 

act as the MLRO.  The Audit Manager can be contacted at the above address or 
by telephone on 07702 958753. 

 
5.3 The Executive Leadership Team is responsible for establishing organisational 

culture in relation to fraud, bribery, and corruption.  Assistant Directors/Heads of 
Service are responsible for assessing the risk of money laundering within their 
services and maintaining effective systems of internal control to minimise this 
risk, in accordance with the Protocol.   

 

5.4 Every member of staff has a responsibility to be aware of the risk of money 
laundering and to apply the procedures detailed in this protocol in order to 
prevent, deter and detect it. There is an accompanying briefing note to this 
protocol which acts as a quick reference guide to inform front line employees of 
the fundamental areas of the protocol that apply to them. 

 
5.5 There is an expectation that all those associated with the Organisations act with 

the highest standards of honesty and integrity and Members and officers are 
expected to lead by example in these matters. This includes compliance with all 
legislation and following the Seven Principles of Public Life (the “Nolan 
Principles”).  

 

6.  Implications  
 
6.1 What is Money Laundering? 
 
6.1.1 Money laundering is the term used for offences involving the proceeds of crime 

or terrorism. These include possessing, or in any way dealing with, or 
concealing, or converting the proceeds of any crime, as well as funds likely to 
be used for terrorism, or the proceeds of terrorism. The term often describes the 

Page 29



 
 

Anti-Money Laundering Protocol Page | 5 
 

activities of organised criminals converting the proceeds of crime into legitimate 
activities, thus hiding their true sources.  

 
6.1.2 Money laundering usually involves a suspicion that someone they are dealing 

with is benefitting financially from dishonest activities. This could be the attempt 
to transact legitimate business with the Organisations using assets and monies 
derived from the proceeds of crime or terrorism. 

 
6.1.3 The various stages are termed placement, layering and integration:  
 

 placement – ‘dirty money’ is placed directly into the financial system;   
 

 layering – the proceeds are moved through a series of financial transactions, 
making it harder to establish their origin; and   

 

 integration – the money launderer creates a legitimate explanation for the 
source of the funds allowing them to be retained, invested into the legitimate 
economy or to acquire assets.   

 
6.1.4 The primary money laundering offences, and thus prohibited acts under the 

legislation are: 
 

 concealing, disguising, converting, transferring criminal property, or removing 
it from the UK (section 327 of the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 Act); or   
  

 entering into or becoming concerned in an arrangement which you know, or 
suspect facilitates the acquisition, retention, use or control of criminal 
property by or on behalf of another person (section 328 of the Proceeds of 
Crime Act 2002); or   

 

 acquiring, using, or possessing criminal property (section 329 of the 
Proceeds of Crime Act 2002). 

 
6.1.5 There are also two secondary offences: 

 

 failure to disclose any of the primary offences and knowledge or suspicion of 
another person(s) involvement in money laundering (s330 of the Proceeds of 
Crime Act 2002; and  

 

 tipping-off or making a disclosure which is likely to prejudice an investigation 
being carried out by a law enforcement authority (s333 of the Proceeds of 
Crime Act 2002.  

 
6.2 Legal Provisions 
 
6.2.1 Money laundering offences are set out in the following pieces of legislation 

(please refer to www.legislation.gov.uk for the full details of the provisions of the 
relevant Acts of Parliament): 

 

Page 30

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/


 
 

Anti-Money Laundering Protocol Page | 6 
 

 Money Laundering, Terrorist Financing and Transfer of Funds (Information 
on the Payer) Regulations 2017 (as amended 2018, 2020 and 2022); 

 Terrorism Act 2006;  

 Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 (as amended by the Serious Organised Crime 
and Police Act 2005 and the Serious Crime Act 2015); and  

 Criminal Finances Act 2017. 
  
6.2.2 Depending on the severity of the offence, the Magistrates’ Court can issue fines 

of up to £5,000 or sentences of up to six months in prison (or both). Where an 
offence is tried in the Crown Court, fines are unlimited and sentences of up to 
fourteen years imprisonment can be given. 

 
6.2.3 Civil penalties for non-compliance with the Money Laundering, Terrorist 

Financing and Transfer of Funds (Information on the Payer) Regulations 2017 
also apply, including fines, and prohibition on an individual to hold a certain 
office. Such penalties are imposed by HM Revenue and Customs. 

 
6.2.4 Money laundering offences may be committed by an organisation itself, as well 

as by the employees working within it. 
 
6.2.5 A notable aspect of this legislation is that the burden for identifying acts of 

money laundering was significantly shifted from Police and Government 
agencies to Organisations and their employees.  

 
6.2.6 While the risk of the Organisations contravening legislation is low, nonetheless 

it is the responsibility of every employee to be vigilant, and to be aware of the 
requirement to report suspicions of money laundering. 

 
6.2.7 A failure to disclose a suspicion of money laundering is a serious offence and 

could result in serious criminal charges and/or sanctions being imposed on the 
Organisations and/or the individual concerned.  

 
6.2.8 There is no financial threshold below which the obligation to recognise and 

report suspicion does not apply and there are only very limited grounds in law 
for not reporting a suspicion.  

 
6.2.9 It should be noted that the professional bodies of some employees (e.g., 

accountants and solicitors, who may be more likely to be exposed to money 
laundering practices) have issued guidance on personal obligations and 
responsibilities relating to money laundering, and those employees who are 
members of such bodies should familiarise themselves with that guidance. 

 
 
6.3 Obligations 
 

6.3.1 The Money Laundering, Terrorist Financing and Transfer of Funds (Information 
on the Payer) Regulations 2017 require the identification and monitoring of 
clients on a risk-sensitive basis. Where “relevant business” is undertaken, 
clients need to be subject to risk-based due diligence.  

Page 31



 
 

Anti-Money Laundering Protocol Page | 7 
 

 
6.3.2 Organisations conducting “relevant business” must: 
 

 Appoint a Money Laundering Reporting Officer (“MLRO”) to receive 
disclosures from employees of money laundering activity; 

 Maintain client identification procedures in certain circumstances; 

 Maintain record keeping procedures; and 

 Implement a disclosure procedure to enable the reporting of suspicions of 
money laundering. 

 
6.3.3 Whilst most of the Organisations’ activities are not defined as “relevant 

business”, these principles are followed as a matter of good practice. 
  
6.3.4 There is the potential for the Organisations to enter into “regulated activity” 

which is defined as the provision ‘by way of business’ of: advice about tax 
affairs; accounting services; treasury management, investment, or other 
financial services; audit services; legal services; estate agency; services 
involving the formation, operation or arrangement of a company or trust or 
dealing in goods wherever a transaction involves a cash payment of €15,000 
(approximately £12,900) or more.  

 

7.  Procedures   
 
7.1 Cash Transactions 

 

7.1.1 In the unlikely event that a cash payment in excess of €15,000 (approximately 
£12,900) is offered in exchange for goods or services, this should not be 
accepted without undertaking due diligence to establish the identity of the 
individual/company making the payment. The client should be advised that 
the Combined Authority’s preferred method of payment is via card or cheque 
(these methods are traceable) and it is not the Organisations’ policy to accept 
large amounts of cash and that the transaction will have to be referred to a 
senior member of staff. If the client wishes to proceed with the transaction in 
cash, the “client identification procedure” must be undertaken and the Client 
Identification Procedure Recording Form (see Appendix C) completed. 
 

7.1.2 The Client Identification Procedure Recording Form (Appendix C) gives full 
details of the forms of identification that are acceptable. 

 

7.1.3 For companies, a Companies House search should be undertaken to confirm 
the existence of the company and to identify the directors and any persons with 
significant control of the company.  Where a company is controlled by holding 
company or other corporate entity, further checks must be carried out to identify 
the individual(s) in ultimate control of the group of companies. Personal 
identification should then be obtained for the representatives of the company 
together with proof of their authority to act on behalf of the company. Care 
should be taken if it becomes clear that the individual has only recently become 
a director of the company or if there has been a recent change in the registered 

Page 32



 
 

Anti-Money Laundering Protocol Page | 8 
 

office. For any other type of organisation, for example a sole trader or 
partnership, personal identification should be obtained for the individuals 
together with documents indicating their relationship to the organisation.  

 
7.1.4 The forms of identification produced must be checked to ensure consistent 

details, for example name, address, and any other details.  Where there are 
concerns regarding the identification provided, the payee should be offered the 
chance to show an alternative form of identification, but if this cannot be 
provided or is not satisfactory, the transaction must be declined.  However, 
even if the identification provided appears satisfactory, you may still have a 
suspicion of money laundering.  In this case you must report this to the Money 
Laundering Reporting Officer using the Money Laundering Reporting Form. 

 

7.1.5 Any checks undertaken should remain proportionate to the risks of the 
individual, business, and the relationship. 
 

7.2 Non–Cash Transactions 
 

7.2.1 As noted above, most of the Organisations’ business is not defined in the 
regulations as being “relevant”. Where activities are undertaken that may be 
considered to be regulated, due diligence checks should be carried out before 
any business is undertaken for that customer.  It is good practice that wherever 
the Organisations enter into activities with a third party, due diligence checks 
are actioned before the establishment of a relationship/transaction. 

 
7.2.2 Where the Organisations are conducting ‘regulated activity’ (which is defined at 

section 6.3.4) and any of the following conditions are satisfied, customer due 
diligence must be conducted: 

 

 there is an intention to establish a business relationship;  

 the Organisations are carrying out an occasional transaction that amounts to 
a transfer of funds by electronic means (including card payments) exceeding 
€1,000 (approximately £860);  

 the Organisations are carrying out an occasional transaction that amounts to 
€15,000 (approximately £12,900) or more, whether or not it is executed in a 
single operation or in several operations which appear to be linked;  

 money laundering or terrorist financing is suspected;  

 there is doubt over the veracity or adequacy of documents or information 
previously obtained for the purposes of verification of identity.  
 

In these circumstances, extra care needs to be taken to check the identity of the 
client and understand their business. It is only by knowing its clients and their 
businesses that the Organisations can recognise abnormal and possibly 
suspicious activity which may need to be reported.  

 
7.2.3 Customer due diligence is carried out by following the procedure detailed in the 

Customer Due Diligence Recording Form at Appendix D.   
 

Page 33



 
 

Anti-Money Laundering Protocol Page | 9 
 

7.2.4 If satisfactory evidence of identity is not obtained at the outset, the business 
relationship or transaction cannot proceed any further. 
  

7.2.5 Where any of the following conditions are satisfied, or it is believed that the risk 
associated with the relationship/transaction(s) is significant, enhanced due 
diligence must be completed in addition to the standard level of due diligence: 

 

 the customer is not physically present when identification checks are 
undertaken;  

 the business relationships are entered into with a ‘politically exposed person’ 
- (defined in the regulations as a person “who is or has, at any time in the 
preceding year been entrusted with a prominent public function by a state 
other than the United Kingdom, a European Community institution or an 
international body”, in addition family members or known close associates of 
such a person should be included).  

 the transaction is with a person from a high risk third country identified by 
the EU;  

 any other situation where there is a higher risk of money laundering or 
terrorist financing. 

7.2.6 Enhanced due diligence should include obtaining any additional documentation, 
data or information that will confirm the customer’s identity and/or the source of 
the funds to be used in the business relationship/transaction.  This should be 
recorded on the Customer Due Diligence Recording Form at Appendix D. 
 

7.2.7 Customer due diligence must be repeated during the life of a business 
relationship but should be proportionate to the risk of money laundering, based 
on the officer’s knowledge of the customer and regular scrutiny of the 
transactions involved.  

 
7.2.8 If, at any time, it is suspected that a client or customer for whom the 

Organisations are or are planning to carry out a regulated activity is carrying out 
money laundering or has lied about their identity, this must be reported to the 
MLRO.  
 

7.2.9 In the case of non-regulated activities, there may be situations where funds are 
received from an unfamiliar source. For instance, if a new business relationship 
is formed or consideration is given to undertaking a significant one-off 
transaction. In such cases it would be prudent to identify fully the parties 
involved by using the customer due diligence procedure.  

 
7.2.10 Further guidance on performing the due diligence checks can be obtained from 

the MLRO.  
 
7.3 Detecting Money Laundering 
 
7.3.1 It is not possible to provide an exhaustive list of the ways to spot money 

laundering, or to state every scenario which may arouse a suspicion of money 
laundering. 

Page 34



 
 

Anti-Money Laundering Protocol Page | 10 
 

  
7.3.2 However, the following are examples of possible ‘indicators of suspicion’ for 

money laundering activity: 
 

 transactions which have no apparent purpose, and which make no obvious 
economic sense; 

 where the transaction being requested by the client, without reasonable 
explanation, is out of the ordinary range of services normally requested or is 
outside the experience of the organisation in relation to the particular client; 

 where, without reasonable explanation, the size or pattern of transactions is 
out of line with any pattern that has previously emerged; 

 where the client refuses to provide the information requested without 
reasonable explanation; 

 where the payment tendered significantly exceeds the amount of the debt; 

 where a debt has been paid twice or more and a refund of the balance has 
been requested; 

 where a client who has entered into a business relationship uses the 
relationship for a single transaction or for a very short period of time; 

 the extensive use of offshore accounts, companies, or structures in 
circumstances where the client’s needs do not support such economic 
requirements; 

 unnecessary routing of funds through third-party accounts; 

 unusual investment transactions without an apparently discernible profitable 
motive. 

 

8.  Making a Report 
 
8.1 If you suspect Money Laundering 

 

8.1.1 You should report any suspicious transactions or concerns as soon as 
practicable to the MLRO using the Money Laundering Reporting Form (see 
Appendix E). This should be done within “hours” of the concern arising and not 
weeks or months later, and wherever possible, the form should be delivered to 
the MLRO in person- it must not be left on a desk. 

 
8.1.2 A report can be made to the MLRO in the form of a request for consent to 

undertake a transaction if the Executive Director or employee making the 
disclosure is concerned that he/she may commit a prohibited act in processing 
a transaction. The report must include all relevant details, as consent will be 
needed from the National Crime Agency (NCA), via the MLRO.  Reporting 
individuals should therefore make it clear in the report if such consent is 
required and clarify whether there are any deadlines for giving such consent 
e.g., a completion date or court deadline.  

 
8.1.3 You should also report any complaints you receive from a member of the public 

in relation to possible criminal activity being carried out by someone who may 
be a customer of the Organisations. 

 

Page 35



 
 

Anti-Money Laundering Protocol Page | 11 
 

8.1.4 In making the report, it is helpful to include as much detail as possible, such as:  
 

 Full details of the people involved (including yourself, if relevant);  

 Full details of the nature of their/your involvement;  

 The types of money laundering activity involved; 

 The dates of such activities;  

 Whether the transactions have happened, are ongoing or are imminent; 

 Where they took place;  

 How they were undertaken;  

 The (likely) amount of money/assets involved;  

 What form of documentation have been obtained to confirm identity; 

 What, exactly, are the grounds for suspicion – the NCA will require full 
reasons; and 

 If possible, cite the section number(s) under which the report is being made 
e.g., a principal money laundering offence under section 327 – 329 of the 
Act, or general reporting requirement under section 330 of the Act, or both 
(See Appendix A). 

8.1.5 Once you have reported the matter to the MLRO, you must follow any directions 
given to you by the MLRO. You must NOT make any further enquiries into the 
matter yourself. The MLRO will consider the report and any necessary 
investigation will be undertaken by the NCA. Relevant members of staff will be 
required to co-operate during any subsequent money laundering investigation. 

 
8.1.6 At no time and under no circumstances should you voice any suspicions to the 

person(s) whom you suspect of money laundering, even if the NCA has given 
consent to a particular transaction proceeding. If you do, you may commit a 
criminal offence of “tipping off” which may render you liable to prosecution 
personally. 

 
8.1.7 Do not, therefore, make any reference on a client file to an anti-money 

laundering report having been made to the MLRO. Should the client exercise 
their right to see the file, then such a note will obviously tip them off to the report 
having been made and may render you liable to prosecution. The MLRO will 
keep the appropriate records in a confidential manner.  

 
8.2 What Actions will the Money Laundering Reporting Officer take? 
  
8.2.1 Upon receipt of a disclosure report, the MLRO will acknowledge receipt and 

must note the date of receipt on the relevant section. The MLRO will advise the 
Executive Director or employee making the disclosure of the timescale for 
receiving a response. 

 
8.2.2 The MLRO will consider the report and any other relevant information in order 

to ensure that all available information is considered in deciding whether a 
report to the NCA is required (such enquiries being made in such a way as to 
avoid any appearance of tipping off those involved). Other relevant internal 
information may include: 

 

Page 36



 
 

Anti-Money Laundering Protocol Page | 12 
 

 Reviewing other transaction patterns and volumes;  

 The length of any business relationship involved;  

 The number of any one-off transactions and linked one-off transactions; and  

 Examination of due diligence undertaken, and evidence held. 
 
8.2.3 The MLRO may also need to discuss the report with the Executive Director or 

employee making the disclosure. 
 
8.2.4 Once the MLRO has evaluated the disclosure report and any other relevant 

information, a decision will be made as to whether:  
 

 There is actual or suspected money laundering taking place; or  

 There are reasonable grounds to know or suspect that is the case; and 

 Whether they need to seek consent from the NCA for a particular 
transaction to proceed. 

 
8.2.5 In the unlikely event that legal professional privilege may apply, the lawyer 

relying on legal professional privilege must liaise with the Chief Legal Officer to 
decide whether the matter should be reported to the MLRO. It is worthy of note 
that legal professional privilege only applies to information a lawyer receives for 
the purposes of providing advice, or in relation to litigation (or potential 
litigation).  Therefore, the likelihood of a lawyer in the Organisations obtaining 
information related to suspected money laundering in privileged circumstances 
is negligible.   
 

 
8.2.6 Where the MLRO determines there are grounds, the matter must be disclosed 

as soon as practicable to the NCA.  Disclosure is by means of a Suspicious 
Activity Report (SAR). NCA’s preferred method of reporting is electronic using 
“SAR Online”. Up to date contact details can be found on the NCA website 
at: http://www.nationalcrimeagency.gov.uk/. 

 

8.2.7 The MLRO will commit a criminal offence if they know or suspect, or have 
reasonable grounds to do so, through a disclosure being made to them, that 
another person is engaged in money laundering, and they do not disclose this 
as soon as practicable to the NCA. 
 

8.2.8 The Money Laundering Reporting Form (Appendix E) should be used by the 
MLRO to record any action taken.  

 

9.  Record-Keeping 
 

9.1.1 Each service area should keep a record of every due diligence record (i.e., 
Appendix C and D) for a period of five years beginning from the date a business 
relationship ends or the date a transaction is completed.  Details of any relevant 
transactions carried out for the same period must also be retained. Records 
showing for example funds received/paid and their purpose must be available 
for audit and any subsequent investigation or inspection by the relevant 

Page 37

http://www.nationalcrimeagency.gov.uk/


 
 

Anti-Money Laundering Protocol Page | 13 
 

supervising body. In practice, each service area should have established 
procedures to maintain records of any dealings with new and existing 
customers.  
  

9.1.2 The MLRO will keep a record of all reports of suspected money laundering 
made to them and of any action taken. The precise nature of these records is 
not set down in law but should be capable of providing an audit trail during any 
subsequent investigation.   
 

9.1.3 All disclosure reports referred to the MLRO and reports made to the NCA must 
be retained by the MLRO in a confidential file kept for that purpose, five years 
beginning from the date a business relationship ends or the date a transaction 
is completed. 

 
9.1.4 Personal information collected should be treated in accordance with the data 

protection regime and subject to appropriate safeguards and held securely.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 38



 
 

Anti-Money Laundering Protocol Page | 14 
 

 
  

 Appendices 
 

APPENDIX A 
 

MONEY LAUNDERING OFFENCES TABLE 

Section 

Reference 

(Proceeds of 

Crime Act 

2002) 

Offence Definition 

s327 Concealing 
Criminal 
Property 

A person commits an offence if they conceal, disguise, 
convert or transfer criminal property or if they remove 
criminal property from England, Wales, Scotland, or 
Northern Ireland. 
This is punishable by a maximum term of imprisonment 
of 14 years at the Crown Court and an unlimited fine. 
At the Magistrates Court it is 6 months and £5,000 fine. 

s328 Arrangements This offence requires a person to become actively 
involved in some arrangement which helps someone else 
to get, keep, use, or control the proceeds of a crime. 
The punishment is as for s327. 

s329 Acquisition, 
use and 
possession 

This offence is committed by anyone that has criminal 
proceeds in their possession provided they know or 
suspect that it represents the proceeds of a crime unless 
they paid ‘adequate consideration’ for it. 
Someone who pays less than the open market value is 
therefore guilty of the offence but someone who pays the 
full retail price, despite knowing or suspecting they are 
stolen goods is not guilty. 
The punishment is as for s327. 

Page 39



 
 

Anti-Money Laundering Protocol Page | 15 
 

Section 

Reference 

(Proceeds of 

Crime Act 

2002) 

Offence Definition 

s330 Failure to 
Disclose 
Offence: 
Regulated 
Sector 

This offence is committed by an employee of a business 
in the regulated sector who has knowledge or suspicion 
of another person’s involvement in money laundering and 
does not make a report through the appropriate 
channels. Negligence is not a defence as the employee 
will be tried upon what they should have known given 
their experience, knowledge, and training. 
This is punishable by a maximum term of imprisonment 
of 5 years and/or a fine. 

s331 Failure to 
Disclose 
Offence: 
Nominated 
Officers in the 
Regulated 
Sector 

This offence is committed by a nominated officer (MLRO) 
of a business in the regulated sector who has knowledge 
or suspicion of another person’s involvement in money 
laundering and does not make a report through the 
appropriate channels without an acceptable excuse 
under the legislation. Negligence is not a defence as the 
nominated officer will be tried upon what they should 
have known given their experience, knowledge, and 
training. 
This is punishable by a maximum term of imprisonment 
of 5 years and/or a fine. 

s332 Failure to 
Disclose 
Offence: Other 
Nominated 
Officers 

This offence is committed by a nominated officer (MLRO) 
of a business outside of the regulated sector who has 
knowledge or suspicion of another person’s involvement 
in money laundering and does not make a report through 
the appropriate channels without an acceptable excuse 
under the legislation. The officer will be tried on what 
they knew or suspected not on what they might have 
been expected to know or suspect. 
This is punishable by a maximum term of imprisonment 
of 5 years and/or a fine. 

s333 Tipping Off 
Offence 

This offence is committed if an officer makes a disclosure 
which is likely to prejudice an investigation being carried 
out by a law enforcing authority, knowing that such an 
investigation is in motion. 
This is punishable by a maximum term of imprisonment 
of 5 years and/or a fine. 

Page 40



 
 

Anti-Money Laundering Protocol Page | 16 
 

APPENDIX B 

CUSTOMER DUE DILIGENCE FLOWCHART 

 

  

Is the transaction 

in cash? 

Undertake the client 

identification procedure 

and record this on the 

Client Identification 

Procedure Recording 

Form 

Report any concerns to 

the Money Laundering 

Reporting Officer 

(MLRO) using the 

Money Laundering 

Recording Form  
Proceed with the 

transaction but report any 

Money Laundering 

concerns to the MLRO 

Is the service a 

regulated activity? 

Is the organisation 

charging for the 

service “by way of 

business”? 

Is the service 

being provided to 

a customer other 

than a UK public 

authority? 

 

 

 

Yes 

No 

Yes to all 

questions 

No to any 

question 

Contact the Money 

Laundering Reporting 

Officer for advice 

New customers 

Yes 

No 

Does the amount 
exceed €15,000 
(approximately 

£12,900)? 

Unsure 

Existing customers 

You must conduct customer due diligence 

before any business is undertaken. This should 

be recorded on the Customer Due Diligence 

Recording Form 

Enhanced due diligence must be completed 

where: 

 The customer is not physically present for 

verification 

 The customer is a politically exposed 

person 

 The transaction is with a person from a 

“high risk third country” as identified by the 

EU 

 Any other situation that could increase the 

risk of money laundering 

Record the details on the Customer Due 

Diligence Recording Form 

 

 
ANY MONEY LAUNDERING CONCERN MUST BE REPORTED AS A MATTER OF URGENCY TO THE MONEY 

LAUNDERING REPORTING OFFICER, USING THE MONEY LAUNDERING REPORTING FORM 

Customer due diligence should be 

conducted in accordance with the level of 

risk and recorded on the Customer Due 

Diligence Recording Form 

If at any time you suspect that a 

customer for whom you are, or are 

planning to conduct a regulated activity 

for has lied about their identify, you must 

report this to the MLRO using the Money 

Laundering Reporting Form 

Ongoing customer due diligence must be 

conducted during the life of the business 

relationship and recorded on the 

Customer Due Diligence Recording 

Form 

Page 41



 
 

Anti-Money Laundering Protocol Page | 17 
 

APPENDIX C 
 

CLIENT IDENTIFICATION PROCEDURE RECORDING FORM 
 

Prior to accepting payment in cash in excess of €15,000 (approximately £12,900) from 
a customer, the identity of the person making the payment must be checked and 
confirmed. 
 
All suspicions about possible money laundering, regardless of amount, should be 
reported to the Money Laundering Reporting Officer, using the Money Laundering 
Reporting Form.  
 
Customer Details 
 

Forename  
 

Surname 
 

 

Address:  
 
 
 
 
 

Payment in Respect of:   
 

Payment Reference 
 

 

Amount 
 

£ 
 

Receipt Number  
(If Applicable) 

 

 
If a payment is being made on behalf of a customer by a third party, please complete 
the details below in respect of the third party.  
 
Details of the Third Party Making the Payment: 
 

Forename  
 

Surname 
 

 

Address:  
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 42



 
 

Anti-Money Laundering Protocol Page | 18 
 

 

Obtaining Evidence 
 

Wherever possible take photocopies of the identification evidence and retain on file. 
Copies should be stamped to indicate a copy and signed to evidence sight of the original. 

 
Have you met the customer or third-party face to face? 
 

Yes – obtain 1 form of identification, either:  No – obtain 2 forms of identification, either:  

Proof of identity – photo identification or:  Proof of identity – photo identification and an 

additional piece of evidence or:  

Proof of identity – non-photo identification and 

proof of address (Please note P.O. boxes are not 

acceptable addresses) or date of birth (can be 

electronic). 

Proof of identity – non-photo identification, proof 

of address (Please note P.O. boxes are not 

acceptable addresses) or date of birth 

Plus: an additional piece of evidence. 

 

Evidence of Identity Evidence of Address or Date of Birth 

(Please tick box to confirm identity type verified) 

Acceptable photo identity 

  Valid passport  

  Valid photocard driving licence (full or 

provisional) 

  National identity card (non-UK nationals 

issued by EEA member states and 

Switzerland) 

  Identity card issued by the Electoral Office for 

Northern Ireland 

  Other (Please specify) 

Acceptable non-photo evidence  

Documents issued by a government department, 

incorporating the person’s name and residential 

address or their date of birth, e.g.:  

  A current UK full driving licence old version 

(not provisional licences) 

  Evidence of entitlement to a state or local 

authority funded benefit (including housing 

 

  Instrument of a court appointment (such as a 

grant of probate, bankruptcy)  

  Current council tax demand letter or 

statement 

  Current (within the last 3 months) bank 

statements, or credit/debit card statements 

issued by a regulated financial sector firm in 

the UK, EU or JMLSG equivalent jurisdiction 

(but not those printed off the internet) 

  A recent (last available) utility bill (gas, water, 

electricity, telephone – not mobile telephone 

bills); it must be a bill or statement of account 

(not correspondence)  

  Valid photocard driving licence (full or 

provisional)  

  A current UK full driving licence old version 

(not provisional licences)  

  Evidence of entitlement to a state or local 

authority funded benefit (including housing 

Page 43



 
 

Anti-Money Laundering Protocol Page | 19 
 

Evidence of Identity Evidence of Address or Date of Birth 

benefit and council tax benefit), tax credit, 

pension, educational or other grant 

  Documents issued by HMRC, such as PAYE 

coding notices and statements of account 

(NB: employer issued documents such as 

P60s are not acceptable) 

  End of year tax deduction certificates 

  Other (Please specify)   

                                     

benefit and council tax benefit), tax credit, 

pension, educational or other grant  

  Documents issued by HMRC, such as PAYE 

coding notices and statements of account 

(NB: employer issued documents such as 

P60s are not acceptable)  

  Solicitor’s letter confirming recent house 

purchase or land registry confirmation (you 

must also verify the previous address) 

  Other (Please specify)  

                                     

  

 

If evidence was not obtained – please give the reasons: 

Customer/third party identification checks have been conducted previously, on: ……… 

Other – state reason fully: ……………………………………………………………………. 
 

Declaration 
I confirm that I have seen the originals of the documents indicated above and have 
identified the above customer or third party. 
 
Cashier 1: 
 
Name:  ...............................................  Signature:  ...............................  Date:  .............. 
 
Cashier 2: 
 
Name:  ...............................................  Signature:  ...............................  Date:  .............. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 44



 
 

Anti-Money Laundering Protocol Page | 20 
 

 

APPENDIX D 

 

CUSTOMER DUE DILIGENCE RECORDING FORM 
 

Customer Details 
 

Forename or entity name  

 

Surname  

 

Address:  

 

 

 

 

 

Payment in Respect of:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Payment Reference  

 

Amount £ 

 

 

Receipt Number  

(If Applicable) 

 

 

 

Nature of business 

relationship 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 45



 
 

Anti-Money Laundering Protocol Page | 21 
 

 

 

 

1. Individuals 
 
Have you met the customer face to face? 

 
Yes– obtain 1 form of identification, either:  No– obtain 2 forms of identification, either:  

Proof of identity – photo identification or:  Proof of identity – photo identification and an 

additional piece of evidence or:  

Proof of identity – non-photo identification and 

proof of address (Please note P.O. boxes are not 

acceptable addresses) or date of birth (can be 

electronic). 

Proof of identity – non-photo identification, proof 

of address (Please note P.O. boxes are not 

acceptable addresses) or date of birth 

Plus: an additional piece of evidence. 

 
 

(List 1) Evidence of identity (List 2) Evidence of address or date of birth 

Acceptable photo identification 
 

 valid passport; or 
 

 valid photocard driving licence (full or 
provisional); or 

 

 national identity card (non-UK nationals 
issued by EEA member states and 
Switzerland); or 

 

 identity card issued by the Electoral Office for 
N. Ireland 

 
Acceptable non-photo evidence: 
 
Documents issued by a government department, 
incorporating the person’s name and residential 
address or their date of birth, e.g.:  
 

 a current UK full driving licence old version 
(not provisional licences); or 

 

 evidence of entitlement to a state or local 
authority funded benefit (including housing 
benefit and council tax benefit), tax credit, 
pension, educational or other grant; or 

 

 documents issued by HMRC, such as PAYE 
coding notices and statements of account 
(NB: employer issued documents such as 
P60s are not acceptable) or 

 

 end of year tax deduction certificates. 

 instrument of a court appointment (such as a 
grant of probate, bankruptcy); or 

 

 current council tax demand letter or 
statement; or 

 

 current (within the last 3 months) bank 
statements, or credit/debit card statements 
issued by a regulated financial sector firm in 
the UK, EU or JMLSG equivalent jurisdiction 
(but not those printed off the internet); or 

 

 a recent (last available) utility bill (gas, water, 
electricity, telephone – not mobile telephone 
bills); it must be a bill or statement of account 
(not correspondence); or 

 

 valid photocard driving licence (full or 
provisional); or 

 

 a current UK full driving licence old version 
(not provisional licences); or 

 

 evidence of entitlement to a state or local 
authority funded benefit (including housing 
benefit and council tax benefit), tax credit, 
pension, educational or other grant; or 

 

 documents issued by HMRC, such as PAYE 
coding notices and statements of account 
(NB: employer issued documents such as 
P60s are not acceptable);  

 

Page 46



 
 

Anti-Money Laundering Protocol Page | 22 
 

 or a solicitor’s letter confirming recent house 
purchase or land registry confirmation (you 
must also verify the previous address). 

 

Page 47



 
 

Anti-Money Laundering Protocol Page | 23 
 

2. Entities 
 
i. Private company/LLP  
 
Have you met a representative face to face? 

 

Yes, and normal risk – obtain: 
 

No and/or higher risk – obtain: 
 

Full company search from a national company 
registry (or equivalent information obtained 
through a commercial provider of registry 
information) e.g., Companies House 
 
Or: 
 
Certified copies of taken from original documents 
evidencing details of incorporation or registration, 
registered office and list of directors and 
shareholders/members 
 
Identify any shareholder/member in the entity 
holding more than 25% of the equity (rights to 
either income, capital, or voting), or if there is no 
holding over 25%, where considered appropriate 
on a risk sensitive basis, the largest holding. 
 
Repeat step above until appropriate ultimate 
beneficial owners have been identified. 

Select individual(s) and entities that is/are 
capable of exercising significant influence over 
this entity either as an appointed director, or as a 
shadow director or equivalent, identify it/them 
according to whether a legal or natural person. 
 
Select any shareholder/member in the entity 
holding more than 25% of the equity (rights to 
either income, capital, or voting), or where no 
holding over 25%, the largest holding and 
identify it/them according to whether a legal or 
natural person 
 
Repeat step above until appropriate ultimate 
beneficial owners have been verified. 
 
For all entities, if a money service business, 
verify HMRC registered number (obtain certified 
copy of certificate or call HMRC National Advice 
Service on 0845 0109000, option 3) 
 

 

ii. Listed or regulated entity 
 

Obtain either a printout from the relevant regulator or exchange’s website (and 
annotate) or obtain direct written confirmation from the regulator or exchange, 
confirming the regulated or listed status of the entity (ensure basic details of name, 
address, any membership or registration details, and any disciplinary details where 
applicable are provided). 
 
iii. Government or similar bodies 
 

Obtain and annotate evidence to confirm the body’s: 
 

 main place of operation; and 

 the government or supra-national agency controlling it (government and 
supranational agency websites are a useful source of information) 

 for Housing Associations, the printout must contain its registered number, 
registered company number (where appropriate) and registered address 

 
For listed/regulated entities and Government/similar bodies, additional verification 
steps are not generally considered necessary in such cases, as these entities in the 
UK qualify for application of simplified due diligence. 
 
 
 

Page 48



 
 

Anti-Money Laundering Protocol Page | 24 
 

iv. Money Service business 
 

Verify HMRC registered number (obtain certified copy of certificate or call HMRC 
National Advice Service on 0845 0109000, option 3). 
 

Use this space to record the due diligence/enhanced due diligence undertaken: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Due diligence undertaken by:  
 
Name:  ......................................  Signature: .................................  Date: ........................ 
 
Checked by:  
 
Name:  ......................................  Signature: .................................  Date: ........................ 
 

Page 49



 
 

Anti-Money Laundering Protocol Page | 25 
 

APPENDIX E 

STRICTLY CONFIDENTIAL 

MONEY LAUNDERING REPORTING FORM 

 
To: Laura A. Williams, Head of Internal Audit 
OR Dave Knott, Audit Manager 
No 1 Mann Island 
Liverpool  
L3 1BP 

 

Date report made  

 
Employee details 

 

Name  
Directorate / Department  
Telephone Number  

 
Details of suspected money laundering offence 

Please give as much detail as possible 

Name and address of person(s) involved:  
[if a company/public body please include details of nature of business]  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Nature, value, and timing of activity involved:  
[Please include full details e.g., what, when, where, how.]  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Page 50



 
 

Anti-Money Laundering Protocol Page | 26 
 

Nature of suspicions regarding such activity:  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Has any investigation been undertaken (as far as you are aware)?  
[Please tick the relevant box below]  

 

Yes   No  

 

If yes, please provide details: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Have you discussed your suspicions with anyone else?  
[Please tick the relevant box below] 

 

Yes   No  

 

If yes, please provide details explaining why such discussion was necessary: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 51



 
 

Anti-Money Laundering Protocol Page | 27 
 

Have you consulted any supervisory body guidance re money laundering? (e.g., the Law 
Society) [Please tick the relevant box below] 

 

Yes   No  

 

If yes, please provide details: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 

Yes   No  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Are you involved in a transaction which might be a prohibited act under sections 327- 329 of 
the Proceed of Crime Act 2006, and which requires appropriate consent from the National 
Crime Agency? [Please tick the relevant box below] 

 

Yes   No  

 

If yes, please provide details: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Please set out any other information you feel is relevant: 
 

Page 52



 
 

Anti-Money Laundering Protocol Page | 28 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
Signed: …………………………………………………………………………………….  Date: ……………… 
 
Please do not discuss the content of this report with anyone you believe to be involved in the 
suspected money laundering activity described. To do so may constitute a tipping off offence, 
which carries a maximum penalty of 5 years’ imprisonment. 

  

Page 53



 
 

Anti-Money Laundering Protocol Page | 29 
 

 
FOR COMPLETION BY THE MONEY LAUNDERING REPORTING OFFICER: 
 

Date report received  
Date receipt of report acknowledged  

 

Consideration of disclosure 
 

Action Plan:  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Outcome of consideration of disclosure 
 

Are there reasonable grounds for suspecting money laundering activity? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

If there are reasonable grounds for suspicion, will a report be made to the National Crime 
Agency? [Please tick the relevant box below] 

 

Yes   No  

 

If yes, please confirm date of report to National Crime Agency: 
 
 
 
Details of liaison with the NCA regarding the report: 
 
Notice Period: From: ………………… To: …………………… 
  
Moratorium Period: From: …………………. To: …………………… 
 
   

 
 
 
 
 

Page 54



 
 

Anti-Money Laundering Protocol Page | 30 
 

 

Is consent required from the National Crime Agency to any ongoing or imminent transactions 
which would otherwise be prohibited acts?  [Please tick the relevant box below] 

 

Yes   No  

 

If yes, please confirm full details: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Date consent received from National Crime Agency: 
 
 
Date consent given by you to employee: 
 
 
 

 
 

If there are reasonable grounds to suspect money laundering, but you do not intend to report 
the matter to the National Crime Agency, please set out below the reason(s) for non-
disclosure: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Date consent given by you to employee: 
 
  
 

 
 

Please set out any other information you feel is relevant: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Signed: ....................................................................  Date: .............................................................   
 

To be retained for five years from the date of the report beginning from the date the 
business relationship ends or the date a transaction is completed. 
 

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
Report Title 

 
Internal Audit Update 
 

Portfolio Holder 
 

Portfolio Holder for Policy, Reform and 
Resources 
 

Summary of decision being sought  Report is for noting 
 

Is this report exempt?  No  
 

Is this a Key Decision 
 

No 

Local Authorities affected  
 

None directly 

 
Impact and implications of this report 
 
Financial impact 
 

No                    

Dispensation of decision sought and 
details of approval  

 

Supporting the Corporate Plan  
 
Tick which ones are appropriate  

A Fairer City Region   
A Stronger City Region   
A Cleaner City Region   
A Connected City Region   
A Vibrant City Region 
 

 

Climate Change Implications 
 

No 

Equality and Diversity implications 
 

No 

Social Value implications  
 

No  
 

Human Resources implications 
 

No 

Physical Assets implications 
 

No  

Information Technology implications No 
 

Legal implications 
 

No  

Privacy implications 
 

No  

Communication and consultation 
implications 

No  

Contact Officer(s) Laura A. Williams, Head of Internal Audit 
laura.williams@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk 
07713 095315  

Appendices Yes  
Background Documents No 

  

Page 57

Agenda Item 7

mailto:laura.williams@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk


LCR Audit and Governance Committee 
 

Wednesday 25 January 2023 
 

Report of the Head of Internal Audit 
 

INTERNAL AUDIT UPDATE  
 
 

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide the Combined Authority Audit and 

Governance Committee with an overview of the internal audit work completed in the 
third and fourth quarters of 2022-23, in accordance with the Internal Audit Plan 
2022-23. 
 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 It is recommended that the Audit and Governance Committee notes the report. 
 
 
3. BACKGROUND    
 
3.1 To support the Committee in the discharge of its duties according to its Terms of 

Reference, the report details the work undertaken by the Internal Audit service in 
respect of the Combined Authority and Merseytravel in the third and fourth quarters 
of 2022-23.  The report highlights the following key points: 
 

 A summary of Internal Audit Plan delivery for the period; 
 

 Details of work undertaken, recommendations made, and key items of note; 
 

 Update on the implementation of recommendations; 
 

 A summary of the work undertaken in respect of fraud, bribery and corruption; 
 

 An update on internal audit performance with reference to the key performance 
indicators detailed in the Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme 
(QAIP); and 

 

 An update on the service’s compliance with the Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards (PSIAS). 

 
 

4. IMPACT AND IMPLICATIONS  
 
4.1 Risks and Mitigation 
 

It is the responsibility of the Combined Authority to establish effective arrangements 
for the management of risk.  Internal Audit reports highlight weaknesses which pose 
a risk to the achievement of the organisation’s objectives and the according 

Page 58



recommendations assist in mitigating such risks.  Internal Audit work is one strand 
of assurance regarding the effectiveness of the system of internal control and this 
can be utilised to inform the Combined Authority’s view of organisational risk and its 
management. 

 
 
5. CONCLUSION 
 
5.1 Internal Audit has made positive progress in the period of this report to deliver the 

Internal Audit Plan 2022-23.  This report demonstrates how the provision of 
available Internal Audit resource has been utilised to provide appropriate assurance 
to the organisation. 

 
 

LAURA A. WILLIAMS 
Head of Internal Audit 

 
 

Appendices: 
 
Internal Audit Update  
 
Background Documents:  
 
None 
 
 
 
 

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



 
                         

 
 
 

INTERNAL AUDIT UPDATE 
 

 

Audit and Governance Committee 

25 January 2023 

 

Laura A. Williams MA CPFA 

 Head of Internal Audit 

 

P
age 61



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, January 2023 Page | 1 
  

Contents 
 

       Page 
 

1. Introduction             2 
 

2. Summary of Internal Audit Plan Delivery         3 
 

3. Core Audit              4 
 

4. Responsive Audit            8 
 

5. Implementation of Recommendations        13 
 

6. Fraud, Bribery and Corruption         17 
 

7. Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme                20 
 

8. Public Sector Internal Audit Standards                  22 
 

 
Appendices 

 
A - Internal Audit Plan 2022-23 Status Update                 23 
 
B - Internal Audit Organisational Risk Opinions and Recommendation Priority Levels            24   

   
       

P
age 62



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, January 2023 Page | 2 
  

1.  Introduction 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide a summary of Internal Audit work completed in the third and fourth (to date) quarters of 

2022-23, in respect of the Internal Audit Plan 2022-23.   
 
1.2 The report is prepared for the Audit and Governance Committee to facilitate the discharge of obligations as defined in its Terms 

of Reference, to highlight the outcomes of Internal Audit work as a source of assurance on the effectiveness of the 
organisation’s governance, risk, and internal control environment.   

 
1.3 Internal Audit is defined by the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (2017) as: “an independent, objective assurance and 

consulting activity designed to add value and improve an organisation’s operations. It helps an organisation accomplish its 
objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk management, 
control and governance processes”. 

 
1.4 The mission of Internal Audit is: “to enhance and protect organisational value by providing risk-based and objective 

assurance, advice and insight”. 
 
1.5 This report includes: 
 

 A summary of Internal Audit Plan 2022-23 delivery for the period; 

 Details of work undertaken, recommendations made, and key items of note; 

 Update on the implementation of recommendations made previously; 

 A summary of the work undertaken in respect of fraud, bribery and corruption; 

 An update on internal audit performance with reference to the key performance indicators detailed in the Quality 
Assurance and Improvement Programme (QAIP); and 

 An update on the service’s compliance with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS).  

P
age 63



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, January 2023 Page | 3 
  

2.  Summary of Internal Audit Plan Delivery 
 
2.1 Audits Completed  

  
2.1.1 In the period since the last Internal Audit Update, 8 audits were completed. These are shown in Table 1: 
  

Audit Title Organisational Risk 
Opinion 

Entity 

Combined 
Authority  

 

Merseytravel 

City Region Sustainable Transport Settlement Negligible  Y 

Data Quality Moderate Y  

Environment, Energy and Net Zero Minor Y  

Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard (PCI 
DSS) Compliance 

Minor  Y 

Adult Education Budget Minor Y  

Money Laundering Moderate Y  

Freeport Moderate Y  

Use of Personal E-mail Addresses Moderate Y  
                                                            Table 1 

 
2.1.2 Appendix A gives a detailed breakdown of the Internal Audit Plan 2022-23, showing the status of each item of audit work that 

was contained within the Plan approved by the Committee at its meeting on 30 March 2022 and Merseytravel at its meeting 
on 19 April 2022.  

                                                                                                                                                    

P
age 64



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, January 2023 Page | 4 
  

3.  Core Audit 
 
3.1 Background 
  
3.1.1 The “core audit” element of the Internal Audit Plan 2022-23 relates to areas of audit work that are either statutory 

requirements, requirements of government or are areas of key risk.  Coverage of these areas is considered essential to 
delivering a comprehensive assurance on the effectiveness of internal control, governance, and risk management.   

 
3.2 Work Completed 
 
3.2.1 Three audits were completed in the period: 
 

 Combined Authority (including corporate) 

 Data Quality 

 Environment, Energy and Net Zero 

 Merseytravel 

 City Region Sustainable Transport Settlement (CRSTS)   
 
3.3 Organisational Risk Opinion  

3.3.1 The audit of Data Quality received an organisational risk opinion of “moderate”, and this indicates that the audit identified 
weaknesses that present a moderate risk to the organisation, and that the risks identified should be considered for inclusion 
within service risk registers (if these have not already been included). The key risk arising from the audit was that without a 
robust set of corporate (and directorate) performance indicators, the ability to monitor and challenge progress against 
objectives, and also enhance, and subsequently maintain, high standards of data quality, is likely to be hindered. Ultimately 
this will hamper the organisation’s ability to improve and ensure achievement of its objectives in the most effective and 
efficient manner.  

 
3.3.2 The audit of Environment, Energy and Net Zero received an organisational risk opinion of “Minor” and the audit of City 

Region Sustainable Transport Settlement received an opinion of “Negligible”, which means that a satisfactory level of 

P
age 65



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, January 2023 Page | 5 
  

assurance on the effectiveness of the internal controls reviewed can be derived, and that the risk presented to the 
organisation by the recommendations made is at a low level.  

 
3.4 Work in Progress 
 
3.4.1 The following items of work are in progress: 
 

 Merseytravel: 

 Capital Project - Kingsway Tunnel Drainage Pipework; and 

 The Beatles Story - Payroll. 

 Combined Authority (including corporate): 

 Creditors and Cheque Control; 

 Business Continuity Management: 

 Application Control - Comments Management System;  

 Programme / Project Assurance - Delivery Boards; and 

 LEP - Annual Governance Review. 
 

3.5 Recommendations of Note  
 
3.5.1 The core audits finalised within the period identified three recommendations classed as “high priority”. These are shown in 

Table 2: 

Audit Title Recommendation Action Planned by Management 

Data Quality The volume and robustness of Performance 
Indicators should be reviewed to ensure those 
being utilised at Corporate and Directorate level are 
the most pertinent by providing clarity, alignment to 
objectives, facilitating data quality, and focusing 
attention when reporting. 

As part of the 2023-24 planning process, existing 
indicators being reported on will be reviewed for 
relevance and focusing requirements for the final 
year of the current CA Plan. Proposals will be 
presented to ELT Members to confirm the indicators 
to be reported through the year. As part of this, the 
governance process of data sourcing, management 
and reporting will be reviewed and recorded for 
each indicator / data set. 

P
age 66



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, January 2023 Page | 6 
  

Audit Title Recommendation Action Planned by Management 

 

Data Quality The production of a monthly Directorate 
Performance Report should be trialled, building on 
what is currently being done, and, upon successful 
completion it should be rolled out across the other 
Directorates, ensuring positive engagement and 
acceptance has taken place.  It must be ensured 
there is a level of consistency in the format and 
detail of what is included in the reports, and robust 
and accurate data provides the foundation for such 
reports.  
 

Monthly Directorate (focused on PLACE 
Directorate) and CEX report will be developed and 
tested for roll-out by start of 2023-24 financial year. 
The collection, management and presentation of 
the data will be based on the governance 
processes established through the planning 
process. 
 

Data Quality The draft document entitled Performance Reporting 
Process should be reviewed and formalised, also 
incorporating:  
 
-  details regarding the CA Monitoring and 
Evaluation Framework;  
-  the system/process utilised for obtaining the 
relevant information; and 
-  an emphasis on the responsibilities of, deadlines 
for, and dependencies on, key officers across the 
organisation (irrespective of whether a specific 
performance management information system is 
being utilised) in order to ensure robust and timely 
performance reporting. 
-  clarity for data owners as to why and where data 
is being reported following its request for 
submission. 
 
The document should then be disseminated to 
relevant officers across the organisation. 
 

Following agreement of a revised performance 
planning and reporting process for 2023-24, the 
Performance team will document and make 
available internally the revised guidance process for 
2023-24 that will include: 
 
- support to the M&E framework 
- the system to be used for data collection 
- responsibilities and deadlines for contributors to 
the system 
- reporting purposes, audiences and timelines 
 

                                                          Table 2 

 

P
age 67



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, January 2023 Page | 7 
  

3.5.2 Improvement in those areas highlighted for attention will be monitored by Internal Audit as part of the follow up process and 
reported to the Executive Leadership Team and this Committee.  

  

P
age 68



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, January 2023 Page | 8 
  

4.  Responsive Audit 
 
4.1 Background 
  
4.1.1 The “responsive audit” element of the Internal Audit Plan 2022-23 relates to work to be conducted in response to identified 

areas of significant risk to the organisation. So as to ensure that Internal Audit work is relevant and risk-based, meaning that 
this element of the Plan is not prescribed in advance, but is developed as the result of ongoing consultation and engagement 
with senior management so as to ensure it adds the value that is required and provides assurance on the key areas of risk. 

 
4.2 Work Completed 
 
4.2.1 Five audits were completed in the period: 

 

 Merseytravel: 

 Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard (PCI DSS) Compliance 
 
 

 Combined Authority (including Corporate): 

 Adult Education Budget 

 Money Laundering 

 Freeport 

 Use of Personal E-mail Addresses 
 
4.3 Organisational Risk Opinion  

4.3.1 The audits of Money Laundering, Freeport and Use of Personal E-mail Addresses each received an organisational risk 
opinion of “moderate”, and this indicates that the audit identified weaknesses that present a moderate risk to the organisation, 
and that the risks identified should be considered for inclusion within service risk registers (if these have not already been 
included). The key risks arising from the audits are as follows: 

 

P
age 69



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, January 2023 Page | 9 
  

 Money Laundering - The limited understanding of the fundamental points of the Anti-Money Laundering Protocol by relevant 
operational staff could lead to an inadvertent breach of legislative requirements, resulting in sanctions being applied against 
the organisation and individual members of staff. 

 
Freeport – An issue of compliance with the Constitution was highlighted in relation to the continued use of a consultant 
beyond the expiry of the relevant delegated decision. The risk of not monitoring the amounts spent on consultancies against 
approved amounts is that approval amounts may be exceeded, potentially causing budgets to overspend and/or non-
compliance with procurement regulations.  
 
Use of Personal E-mail Addresses – The organisation’s policy requires strengthening in respect of the circumstances and 
acceptability of utilising a personal email address to conduct Combined Authority business; and the steps to be taken to ensure 
the secure sharing of organisational data/information, and the types of data/information that can be shared, if/when it has been 
approved that a company email address does not have to be utilised. Without clarity, this could lead to weakening of the 
organisation’s data governance processes and deficiencies in IT security arrangements which could hinder the organisation’s 
ability to operate effectively and achieve its objectives.  

 
The other two audits, Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard Compliance and Adult Education Budget, both received 
an organisational risk opinion of “Minor”, which means that a satisfactory level of assurance on the effectiveness of the 
internal controls reviewed can be derived, and that the risk presented to the organisation by the recommendations made is at 
a low level.  

 
4.4 Recommendations of Note  
 
4.4.1 The responsive audits finalised within the period identified four recommendations classed as “high priority”. These are shown 

in Table 3: 

 

 

P
age 70



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, January 2023 Page | 10 
  

Audit Title Recommendation Action Planned by Management 

Freeport With regards to consultancy services: 
 

 If the services of a consultant are still required, the agreement 
with them should be extended. Advice on the appropriate 
approval required and the issuing of the extension should be 
sought from Legal; 

 Retrospective approval should be obtained for the amounts paid 
to a consultant which exceed the current expenditure approvals; 

 A system for monitoring consultancy payments against the 
amounts approved should be implemented. If it is likely that the 
amounts paid will exceed the amounts approved, appropriate 
prior approval should be sought, in accordance with the 
Constitution, and 

 Consultants should be requested to include a breakdown of rates 
and hours with their invoices so that the detail can be checked 
and agreed prior to making payment. 

 

Work is ongoing to seek approval 
for the consultancy services and to 
extend the agreement with them. 
 
A report is being developed in 
conjunction with the Finance team 
to monitor consultancy spend, and 
the contractor has been contacted 
to request further breakdown of 
rates and hours charged. 

Use of personal e-mail addresses i) The organisation’s SIRO, in conjunction with relevant officers from 
Legal, HR and IT, must decide upon a clear and robust procedure 
covering the setting up and use of personal email addresses as part 
of business operations for all categories of personnel. The outcome 
must be reflected in an agreed Protocol (likely to be agreed upon 
and issued through the organisation’s Information Management 
Group), that is disseminated and implemented in practice. This 
should also cover the process to be applied in the circumstances 
if/when a CA email address is not considered appropriate but 
transfer and/or access to CA data/information is required.  Clarity 
should also be provided in relation to examples of information that 
could legitimately be sent via a personal email address, particularly 
if this was deemed permissible.   
 
ii) A review should be undertaken to ensure the arrangements 
adopted for existing personnel aligns to the agreed 
process/protocol; and in circumstances where it does not, 
appropriate action must be taken to rectify the situation.   
 

i) Information Management Group 
(IMG) to discuss and agree process 
and nominate an appropriate officer 
to draft protocol. Protocol to be 
reviewed, approved and owned by 
IMG. 
 
ii) Request from Information 
Management Group (IMG) to all 
managers to audit their own areas 
and external resources used to 
ensure protocol is being adhered 
to. Responsibility with Managers to 
rectify where required. 

P
age 71



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, January 2023 Page | 11 
  

Audit Title Recommendation Action Planned by Management 

Use of personal e-mail addresses Enhancements should be made to existing processes to ensure 
access to the organisation's IT network and/or the creation of a CA 
email address, is not undertaken without the individual, to whom it 
relates, having accepted the current version of the IT Acceptable 
Use Protocol, and that the relevant manager is clear as to their 
responsibility in the process. This should also include reviewing the 
message that appears when logging on the organisation’s network. 
 

IT will re-issue the process for 
onboarding colleagues and the 
required process to be followed to 
Managers. This will also be inserted 
into the colleague induction 
process. The login message will be 
changed as required. 

Use of personal e-mail addresses All officers not yet having acknowledged the current IT Acceptable 
Use Protocol should be notified, with Managers copied in, that they 
must read and acknowledge the Protocol as a matter of urgency.  
Regular ongoing monitoring and issuing of reminders, in addition to 
those issued through the I4P system, should also take place (with 
the first such review being within a reasonable time period of the 
latest version having been issued). 
 

It will be re-iterated to Managers 
that they have a responsibility to 
ensure that staff have read and 
acknowledged all protocols and 
procedures including the IT 
Acceptable Use Protocol (AUP). IT 
will review completion of the IT 
AUP on a quarterly basis and the 
results forwarded to Senior 
Leadership Team to action. 
Colleagues that continue to show 
as outstanding will have their 
network access revoked until such 
time that the protocol has been 
read and acknowledged. 
 

                                                          Table 3 

 
 
4.5 Work in Progress 
 
4.5.1 Table 4 below shows the following items of work that are in progress: 
 

Audit Title Entity Rationale for Completion Risk Register Linkages 

Know Your Customer  
 
(Draft report issued) 

Combined 
Authority 

Considered as part of the Supply Chain 
Management theme. Work concerns the 
increasing global risks in relation to suppliers, 

Corporate Risk 2: Resilience 
There is a risk that the Combined Authority 
fails to develop and maintain robust 

P
age 72



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, January 2023 Page | 12 
  

Audit Title Entity Rationale for Completion Risk Register Linkages 

and how the organisation seeks to operate in a 
resilient manner without undue delays or 
reputational damage. 
 

arrangements to ensure business resilience 
and continuity. 
 

Housing Programmes - 
Retrofit, Sustainable 
Warmth etc. 

Combined 
Authority 

Considered as part of the Programme, Project, 
Contract Management theme.  Work concerns 
key risks relating to project and programme 
control management and delivery, in order to 
deliver schemes on time and within budget and 
to harness projected outcomes for the City 
Region. 
 

Corporate Risk 3: Environment  
There is a risk that the City Region does not 
achieve its ambition of being net zero carbon 
by 2040. 
 

                                                          Table 4 

 
4.6 Advice, Guidance and Consultancy 

 

4.6.1 During the period, the service has provided advice and guidance in a number of areas: 

 Attending Delivery Boards to advise on audit and risk matters, and to contribute to the Boards’ ongoing development; 

 Continued involvement in providing advice on major projects, including bus reform, rolling stock; and capital schemes; 

 Contributing to the development of new schemes such as the UK Shared Prosperity Fund, by providing input on the role 

of Internal Audit in this area. 

 

  

P
age 73



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, January 2023 Page | 13 
  

5.  Implementation of Recommendations 
 
5.1 Background 
 
5.1.1 The implementation of recommendations is subject to ongoing monitoring and where dates of agreed action have passed 

and confirmation of implementation has not been received, Internal Audit contacts managers to establish progress, confirm 
actions completed or agree revised implementation dates, if appropriate. 

 

5.1.2 Significant work continues to be undertaken with members of the Senior and Executive Leadership Teams to encourage 
completion of outstanding recommendations, particularly those that are long-standing.  This includes attendance at 
management team meetings and provision of reports detailing recommendations outstanding.  This has generated positive 
engagement and action on progressing the issues, and consequently a number of recommendations have been closed 
during the period. Work continues with managers to encourage the timely implementation of recommendations, with 
particular attention being paid to older recommendations. 

 
5.2 Combined Authority 

 

5.2.1 Table 5 below provides a summary of progress in respect of the implementation of previous recommendations made in 

respect of Combined Authority specific systems: 

 

P
age 74



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, January 2023 Page | 14 
  

 
                        Table 5 

Year Department Auditable Area High Medium Completed In Progress

Overdue based on 

original 

implementation date

More than 2 

months overdue
High Overdue Notes

Corporate Development & Delivery

2021-22 Organisational Development Ethics / Standards of Conduct 0 2 0 2 2 2 n/a Revised implementation dates provided

2021-22 Organisational Development Learning & Development 2 4 0 6 6 5 2 Revised implementation dates provided

2022-23 HR - Strategy & Systems Gifts, Hospitality & Declarations of Interest 7 4 10 1 1 0 1 Revised implementation date provided

2021-22 HR - Operations Health, Safety and Wellbeing - Corporate Review 4 9 13 0 0 0 0

2021-22 HR - Strategy & Systems Absence Management 0 7 4 3 3 3 n/a Revised implementation dates provided

2020-21 HR - Operations Payroll 0 5 5 1 1 1 n/a

2019-20 HR - Strategy & Systems Procurement Cards 1 5 5 1 1 1 1 Revised implementation date provided

2019-20 HR - Operations Recruitment and Selection 2 10 8 4 4 4 1 Revised implementation dates provided

2018-19 HR - Strategy & Systems Travel, Accommodation & Expenses 0 3 2 1 1 1 n/a Revised implementation date provided

2021-22 IT - Service Delivery Backup Management 0 6 0 3 0 0 n/a

2021-22 IT - Service Delivery Cyber Security Response 1 3 2 2 0 0 0

2021-22 IT - Service Delivery IT - Asset Management 0 7 2 5 1 1 n/a Revised implementation date provided

2019-20 IT - Service Delivery IT - Service Continuity 0 11 9 2 2 2 n/a Revised implementation dates provided

Corporate Services

2022-23 Accountancy VAT 1 4 1 4 4 0 0 Revised implementation dates provided

2022-23 Accountancy Treasury Management 1 2 1 2 1 0 0 Awaiting revised implementation date

2021-22 Accountancy Creditors 0 3 2 1 0 0 n/a

2022-23 Freeport Freeport 1 1 0 2 0 0 0

2021-22 Internal Audit Risk Management 1 2 3 0 0 0 0

2022-23 Legal Use of Personal e-mail Addresses 3 0 0 3 0 0 0

2022-23 Legal Insurance Claims 2 0 2 0 0 0 0

2021-22 Procurement Procurement 0 7 4 3 3 3 n/a Revised implementation dates provided

2019-20 Procurement Commissioning 2 2 1 3 3 3 2 Awaiting revised implementation dates

2019-20 Procurement Procurement 0 1 0 1 1 1 n/a Revised implementation date provided

2017-18 Procurement Procurement 0 8 8 1 1 1 n/a Revised implementation date provided

Investment & Delivery

2022-23 Adult Education Budget Adult Education Budget 0 1 1 0 0 0 n/a

2022-23 Homelessness Application Control - In-Form  0 3 3 0 0 0 n/a

2021-22 ESIF ESIF - Ways To Work 1 3 0 4 0 0 0

2021-22 Investment Future Innovation Fund - Tranche 2 1 3 0 4 0 0 0

2021-22 Investment SIF2 Assurance Framework 1 1 1 1 1 0 1 Awaiting revised implementation date

2021-22 Investment Investment Models 0 3 2 1 0 1 n/a Revised implementation date provided

2021-22 Programme Delivery Race Equality 0 7 5 2 2 2 n/a Revised implementation dates provided

2020-21 PMO Pre Payment Assurance 0 3 0 3 3 3 n/a Awaiting revised implementation dates

Place

2021-22 Tidal QS Procurement 0 10 10 0 0 0 n/a

2019-20 Customer Delivery Business Continuity 5 14 19 0 0 0 0

Policy Strategy & Government Relations

2022-23 Evidence, Research & Intelligence Data Quality 3 1 0 4 0 0 0

2022-23 Policy Co-ordiantion Environment, Energy and Net Zero 0 3 1 2 0 0 n/a

2022-23 Evidence, Research & Intelligence Monitoring & Evaluation Indicator Framework 5 1 0 6 3 3 3 Revised implementation dates provided

Other

2021-22 LEP LEP Governance Annual Review 21-22 1 1 0 2 1 0 1 Awaiting revised implementation date

Recommendations

P
age 75



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, January 2023 Page | 15 
  

5.2.2 There are seventeen outstanding recommendations relating to audits prior to 2021-22 and Internal Audit await revised dates 
for six further to discussions with auditees.  

 
5.2.3 Two recommendations remain open from reports issued prior to 2019-20 (Travel, Accommodation and Expenses 2018-19 

and Procurement 2017-18).  Both relate to the need to update organisational policies. It was previously reported that 
implementation was expected by the end of September 2022 in both cases, but neither of the documents have yet been 
updated.  Revised dates have been set, and it is imperative that implementation is achieved within this timescale. 

 
5.2.4 The importance of setting achievable implementation dates for recommendation dates is emphasised by the internal audit 

team in their work, but it is equally important that managers focus on meeting the set timescales and do not seek to extend 
these unnecessarily. 

 
5.3 Merseytravel 

 
5.3.1 Table 6 below provides a summary of progress in respect of the implementation of previous recommendations made in 

respect of Merseytravel specific systems:  
 

 
                         Table 6 

Year Department Auditable Area High Medium Completed In Progress

Overdue based on 

original 

implementation date

More than 2 

months overdue
High Overdue Notes

Place

2021-22 AM - Maintenance Delivery Health, Safety & Wellbeing 3 6 8 1 1 0 0 Awaiting revised implementation date

2021-22 AM - Maintenance Delivery Application Control - SCADA Control 0 6 2 4 4 1 n/a Revised implementation dates provided

2021-22 AM - Technical Services Seacombe Ferry Landing Stage - Capital Project 3 4 3 4 4 0 1 Awaiting revised implementation dates

2022-23 Bus - Hubs Anti-Money Laundering 0 2 1 1 0 0 n/a

2022-23 Bus - Hubs PCI DSS Compliance 0 3 0 3 0 0 n/a

2022-23 Bus - Bus Development Bus Reform 2 0 1 1 1 0 1 Revised implementation date provided

2019-20 Bus - Network Performance Bus Services - Contract Management 0 4 3 1 1 1 n/a Revised implementation date provided

2022-23 Customer Delivery Anti-Money Laundering 0 2 1 1 0 0 n/a

2022-23 Customer Delivery PCI DSS Compliance 0 3 1 2 0 0 n/a

2022-23 Customer Delivery Application Control - Docustore 1 5 4 2 0 0 0

2019-20 Customer Delivery Ancillary Income and Debt Recovery 3 2 4 1 1 1 0 Revised implementation date provided

2021-22 Customer Operations (Ferries) Mersey Ferries - Ticketing and Admissions 2 4 5 1 1 1 0 Awaiting revised implementation dates

2020-21 Police Operations (Tunnels) CCTV 1 8 8 1 1 1 0 Revised implementation date provided

2021-22 The Beatles Story Information Governance 1 10 3 8 2 2 0

Recommendations

P
age 76



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, January 2023 Page | 16 
  

 
5.3.2 There are three outstanding recommendations relating to audits prior to 2021-22 and revised timescales have been provided. 

It is imperative that implementation is achieved within the revised timescale. 
 
  

P
age 77



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, January 2023 Page | 17 
  

6.  Fraud, Bribery and Corruption  
 
6.1 CIPFA Code of Practice on Managing the Risk of Fraud and Corruption (2014) 
 
6.1.1 The CIPFA Code of Practice on Managing the Risk of Fraud and Corruption is the key guidance document for the sector on 

managing fraud risk. 
 
6.1.2 In the Annual Fraud Update report presented to this Committee at its November 2022 meeting, it was noted that a full self-

assessment of the organisation’s compliance with the guidance had been undertaken, and that this had resulted in a 
significant increase in the level of compliance overall: from 52% to 82%.  This was as a result of extensive fraud awareness 
activities undertaken by Internal Audit during the year, and the inclusion of a significant level of additional detail in the Fraud, 
Bribery and Corruption Strategy, which the Committee approved at that meeting. Figure 1 shows the results: 

 

 

P
age 78



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, January 2023 Page | 18 
  

6.1.3 Table 7 below gives an update on the progress being made to address the action arising from the self-assessment: 
 

Ref Action Responsibility Implementation 
Due Date 

Progress Update 

1 All risk owners must assess the 
fraud risks associated with the 
service or project they manage 
and formulate proportionate 
responses to these risks.   
This will facilitate the escalation 
of significant fraud risks where 
necessary. 
 

Risk Owners March 2023 The Head of Internal Audit discussed fraud 
with the leadership teams on a number of 
occasions during 2021-22 and 2022-23, and 
this continues as a regular event. 
Examples include fraud awareness updates 
delivered to SLT meetings, issue of updates 
regarding take-up of fraud awareness e-
learning, and the inclusion of fraud risks on 
risk registers for consideration by all Heads 
of Service/Assistant Directors. 
Fraud risk awareness sessions were held 
during November 2022, to coincide with a 
programme of activities during International 
Fraud Awareness Week. 
 

                                           Table 7 

6.2 Proactive Counter Fraud Work 
 

6.2.1 The Internal Audit Plan 2022-23 includes 30 days for proactive counter-fraud work across both Merseytravel and the 
Combined Authority.  It is also of note that key anti-fraud controls are also evaluated as part of a significant number of other 
audits within the Plan such as Creditors, Payroll and Gifts, Hospitality and Declarations of Interest.   

 
6.2.2 The Plan includes the following areas of focus shown in Table 8:  
 

Audit Title Days Allocated Progress 

Recruitment and Selection 15 In progress 

Rail Operators - Stock Control 15 Planned for quarter 4 

P
age 79



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, January 2023 Page | 19 
  

                               Table 8 

6.3 Fraud Risks 
 

6.3.1 Members of the Senior Leadership Team have been reminded to review the fraud risks contained within their Service Risk 
Registers.  This is with the objective of updating of reflecting new and emerging fraud risks, and to ensure that they have 
acknowledged such risks in their planning and maintenance of internal controls.   

  
6.4 National Fraud Initiative (NFI) 
 
6.4.1 The organisation will be participating in the National Fraud Initiative 2022 co-ordinated by the Cabinet Office.  Data from the 

Payroll, Creditors and concessionary travel systems were uploaded to the dedicated Cabinet Office website in October and 
will be matched with data within and between participating bodies so as to identify potential frauds, overpayments, and 
errors. Receipt of the results is imminent.  On receipt of the results, the organisation has responsibility to follow up and 
investigate the matches, and the results of this work, including any frauds that are detected as a result, will be reported to this 
Committee once the work is concluded. The results of these matches are also fed into a national report at the end of each 
cycle.  

 
6.5 Reactive Audit Work  

 
6.5.1 There is also a provision of 58 days in the Plan for reactive work such as the investigation of allegations of fraud or 

irregularity. A small number of days were used to provide support to the Bus team in relation to a fraud concern. 
 
6.6 Fraud Protocol Framework  
 
6.6.1 All fraud protocols within the Protocol Framework are up to date, having been approved by the Audit and Governance 

Committee at its meeting on 30 November 2022, with the exception of the Anti-Money Laundering Protocol, which has been 
subject to a detailed review and is being presented to the January 2023 meeting for approval.   

P
age 80



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, January 2023 Page | 20 
  

7.  Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme 
 
7.1 Performance Update 
 
7.1.1 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) require that the service maintains a Quality Assurance and Improvement 

Programme (QAIP) which includes a series of performance measures and associated targets.  
 
7.1.2 Performance measures defined in the QAIP are also included within the Internal Audit Service Plan and are thus reported to 

senior management in accordance with the corporate quarterly performance reporting process.  This provides senior 
management oversight and scrutiny of performance and of any remedial actions required to meet identified targets.  

  
7.1.3 Table 9 below details the performance measures and the results for the period: 
 

Description and Purpose Target Actual Variance and Explanation 

Compliance with Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards (PSIAS) 
This measures the extent to which the Internal Audit 
Service complies with the requirements set out in the 
Standards and the Local Government Application Note. 

100% 100% No variance 
The result of the external assessment (August 2021) details 
that the service fully complies with the Public Sector 
Internal Audit Standards.  The annual internal self-
assessment has also been completed and this confirms 
continued compliance (see s8 of this report). 

Percentage of recommendations implemented within 
a reasonable timescale 
This measures the extent to which managers feel that the 
recommendations made are appropriate and valuable in 
strengthening the control environment and also provides 
the Committee with a view on how effective management 
action is in responding to recommendations. 

100% 100% No variance 
There are no concerns in respect of recommendations made 
in 2021-22 and 2022-23 to date. 

Percentage of client survey responses indicating a 
"very good" or "good" opinion 
This measures the feedback received on the service 
provided and seeks to provide assurance that Internal 
Auditors conduct their duties in a professional manner. 

100% 100% No variance 
Feedback positive although response levels are low. 

P
age 81



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, January 2023 Page | 21 
  

Description and Purpose Target Actual Variance and Explanation 

Percentage of annual senior management survey 
responses indicating satisfaction with the Internal 
Audit service provided 
This measures the feedback received from Directors and 
Heads of Service on the service provided and seeks to 
provide assurance that Internal Audit is adding value at a 
strategic level. 

100% N/A Not applicable 
The annual survey is undertaken at the end of Q4. 
 

       Table 9                                          

 
7.2 Resources 
 
7.2.1 The service has one vacancy which it is hoping to fill in time for quarter 1 of 2023-24.   
  P

age 82



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, January 2023 Page | 22 
  

8. Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) 

 
8.1 External Assessment 

 
8.1.1 It is a requirement of the PSIAS that the service must be subject to an external assessment of its compliance with the 

Standards every five years.  The service was subject to such an external assessment (peer review validation of self-
assessment) against the requirements of the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) in August 2021.  

 
8.1.2 The outcome of this assessment was that the service fully conforms to the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards, and it 

was reported to the September 2022 meeting of this Committee that implementation of the recommendations is completed.   
 

8.2 Internal Self–Assessment 

8.2.1 In accordance with the Standards, an annual self-assessment must be completed to assess the compliance of the service 
with the Standards, so as to assess the impact of any changes to working practices, or indeed any changes to the Standards 
themselves.  

 
8.2.2 The Standards have not changed since the external assessment was carried out in August 2021.  The self-assessment has 

been updated however, to reflect the revised arrangements arising from the recent removal of the Audit, Risk and 
Governance Board from Merseytravel. 

 
8.2.3 The results of the self- assessment were that the service is assessed as continuing to be compliant with the Standards.   

P
age 83



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, January 2023 Page | 23 
  

Appendix A: Internal Audit Plan 2022-23 Status Update 
 

  

Auditable Area LCRCA Merseytravel
Organisational Risk 

Opinion
Status

CORE

IT Application Control - Docustore Y Minor Completed

IT Application Control - In-Form Y Minor Completed

IT Application Control - Comments Management Y Commenced

Business Continuity Management Y Draft Report

Staffing & Capacity Y

Payroll Y

Key Financial Systems - VAT Y Minor Completed

Key Financial Systems - Treasury Management Y Minor Completed

Key Financial Systems - Creditors Y Commenced

Annual Governance Review Y

Risk Management Y

Environment, Energy and Net Zero Y Minor Completed

Procurement Y

Data Quality Y Moderate Completed

Programme / Project Assurance - Delivery Boards Y Commenced

Financial Sustainability Y

City Region Sustainable Transport Settlement Y Negligible Completed

Investment Schemes / Assurance Frameworks Y

Capital Schemes - Kingsway Tunnel Drainage Pipework Y Commenced

Rolling Stock Y

Transport Operators Y

IT 3
rd Party DR Solutions Y

IT Hybrid Working Y

IT Network Resilience Y

RESPONSIVE

Bus Reform Y Moderate Completed

Corporate Governance - Gifts, Hospitality & Declarations of Interest Y Moderate Completed

Grant Assurance Y n/a Ongoing

Programme / Project / Contract Management - Freeport Y Moderate Completed

Supply Chain Management - Know Your Customer Y Draft Report

Monitoring & Evaluation Indicator Framework Y n/a Completed

PCI DSS Compliance Y Minor Completed

Money Laundering Y Moderate Completed

Housing Programmes - Retrofit, Sustainable Warmth etc. Y Commenced

Adult Education Budget Y Minor Completed

Use of Personal e-mails Y Moderate Completed

Governance Arrangements - Policy Compliance Y

Use of Consultants Y

COUNTER FRAUD

Recruitment and Selection Y Commenced

Rail Operators - Stock Control Y

Fast Tag / T Flow Account Management Y

LEP

LEP - Governance Annual Review Y Commenced

LEP - Grant Claim Submission Y

BEATLES STORY

Beatles Story - Payroll Y Commenced

Beatles Story - Business Continuity Management Y

Entity

P
age 84



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, January 2023 Page | 24 
  

Appendix B: Organisational Risk Opinions and Recommendation Priority 
Levels 

 

Organisational Risk Opinions 
 

Recommendation Priority Levels 

 

Major 
The risks identified in the review could, if they materialised, 
have a major impact on the organisation as a whole. 
 

 

Moderate 
The risks identified in the review could, if they materialised, 
have a moderate impact on the organisation as a whole. 
 

 

Minor 
The risks identified in the review could, if they materialised, 
have a minor impact on the organisation as a whole. 
 

 

Negligible 
No risks were identified within the review. 
  

 

 

High 
The recommendation is essential to the management of risk 
within the area under review.   
 

 

Medium  
The recommendation is important to the management of risk 
within the area under review.   
 

 

Advisory  
The recommendation is a suggestion intended to enhance 
the existing management of risk within the area under 
review. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

P
age 85



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
Report Title 

 
Risk Management Update 
 

Portfolio Holder 
 

Portfolio Holder for Policy, Reform and 
Resources 
 

Summary of decision being sought  Report is for noting 
 

Is this report exempt?  No  
 

Is this a Key Decision 
 

No 

Local Authorities affected  
 

None directly 

 
Impact and implications of this report 
 
Financial impact 
 

No                    

Dispensation of decision sought and 
details of approval  

 

Supporting the Corporate Plan  
 
Tick which ones are appropriate  

A Fairer City Region   
A Stronger City Region   
A Cleaner City Region   
A Connected City Region   
A Vibrant City Region 
 

 

Climate Change Implications 
 

No 

Equality and Diversity implications 
 

No 

Social Value implications  
 

No  
 

Human Resources implications 
 

No 

Physical Assets implications 
 

No  

Information Technology implications No 
 

Legal implications 
 

No  

Privacy implications 
 

No  

Communication and consultation 
implications 

No  

Contact Officer(s) Laura A. Williams, Head of Internal Audit 
laura.williams@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk 
07713 095315  

Appendices Yes  
Background Documents No 

 

Page 87

Agenda Item 8

mailto:laura.williams@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk


  

Page 88



 

LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 

LCR Audit and Governance Committee 
 

Wednesday 25 January 2023 
 

Report of the Executive Director of Corporate Services 
 

RISK MANAGEMENT UPDATE 
 
  

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide the Combined Authority Audit and 

Governance Committee with an update in respect of the system of corporate risk 
management and the activity that has been undertaken in continuing to embed this 
system during the third and fourth quarters of 2022-23.   
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 It is recommended that the Audit and Governance Committee notes the report.  
 
3. BACKGROUND    
 
3.1 To support the Committee in the discharge of its duties according to its Terms of 

Reference, the report details the key activities undertaken to embed the system of 
corporate risk management.  The report highlights the following key points: 
 

 an update on the Corporate Risk Register including the key changes made 
since the last report; and 

 the ongoing activity to embed risk management further into the organisation, 
including the implementation of the Corporate Risk Management Policy and 
Handbook, and the progress in implementing the recommendations from the 
audit of 2021-22. 
 

4. IMPACT AND IMPLICATIONS  
 
4.1 Risks and Mitigation 

 
The implementation of an effective system of corporate and service risk 
management supports the organisation in the delivery of its objectives, by 
identifying threats that may jeopardise their achievement and maximising 
opportunities as these arise.  The contents of this report give a narrative on the 
continued progress being made to embed such a system. 
  

5. CONCLUSION 
 
5.1 The organisation continues to make positive progress in embedding a more robust 

and effective system for the management of risk.   
 

Page 89



 
JOHN FOGARTY    METRO MAYOR S. ROTHERAM 

Executive Director of Corporate Portfolio Holder for Policy, Reform and 
Resources     Services 

 
Appendices: 
Risk Management Update 
Corporate Risk Register  
 
Background Documents: 
None 
 
 
 

Page 90



 

 

 
 

RISK MANAGEMENT UPDATE 
 

Audit and Governance Committee 
25 January 2023 

 
Laura A. Williams MA CPFA 

 Head of Internal Audit 
 

 
 

P
age 91



 

Risk Management Update – Audit and Governance Committee, January 2023 Page | 1 
 
 

Contents 
 

   
            Page 

  
1. Introduction            2    
 
2. Corporate Risk Register          3      
    
3. Embedding Effective Risk Management        5 
 
 
 
     
               
       
 
 
 
   

 
 
           
  

P
age 92



 

Risk Management Update – Audit and Governance Committee, January 2023 Page | 2 
 
 

1. Introduction 
 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide a summary of the organisation’s risk management activity for the third quarter of 2022-
23. 
 

1.2 It is prepared for the Audit and Governance Committee and its purpose is to facilitate the Committee in discharging its 
obligations as defined in its Terms of Reference: “to review the Combined Authority’s financial affairs, internal control, 
corporate governance arrangements and risk management.”  It is also intended to assist in continuing the progress made to 
date in embedding effective strategic and operational risk management into the organisation. 

 
1.3 The report covers: 

 an update on the Corporate Risk Register including the key changes made since the last report; and 

 the ongoing activity to embed risk management further into the organisation. 
  

P
age 93



 

Risk Management Update – Audit and Governance Committee, January 2023 Page | 3 
 
 

2. Corporate Risk Register  
 
2.1 The Corporate Risk Register reflects the highest scoring risks across the organisation – those with a residual score in excess 

of 16 (to the maximum score of 25) and graded as “red”. These are the risks which present the most significant threats to the 
achievement of the objectives articulated in the Corporate Plan, and so these risks span the whole organisation. 

 
2.2 The Corporate Risk Register is owned by the Executive Leadership Team (ELT) and each risk has a designated risk owner 

who is a member of ELT, and they are responsible for co-ordinating activities to manage the risk and reduce its impact and 
likelihood to its target level, drawing on the support of colleagues across the organisation. 

 
2.3 The Corporate Risk Register features six corporate risks: 

 

P
age 94



 

Risk Management Update – Audit and Governance Committee, January 2023 Page | 4 
 
 

2.4 The Corporate Risk Register has been reviewed by the Executive Leadership Team as a whole (facilitated by the Head of 
Internal Audit and Risk Manager) and by each individual Executive Director in their capacity as Risk Owner (the Risk 
Manager holds bi-monthly risk catch-up meetings with each Executive Director to facilitate this review), with the objective of 
ensuring that: 

 

 The risks identified are pertinent; 

 The control measures are in place and working, and reflect any new or additional controls that have been implemented; 

 The risk scoring identified is still considered an accurate representation; 

 The actions identified are appropriate, and progress is being made in progressing these; 

 Any new or emerging risks are captured; and 

 Risks that are reducing in score are identified and de-escalated to service risk registers, as necessary. 
 

2.5  The results of this review were: 
 

 The residual risk scores were discussed, and it was agreed these continue to be assessed appropriately; 

 The existing actions in relation to Risk 2: Resilience have been completed and new actions have now been identified; 

 The action relating to commercialisation, within Risk 6: Financial Sustainability, has now been completed and the action 
plan will be incorporated into the Medium-Term Financial Strategy; 

 A new action has also been included in Risk 6: Financial Sustainability, which is to collaborate with our local authorities 
to gain an understanding of both the individual and collective financial standing given the continued economic 
uncertainty and the financial settlement for 2023/24. 
 

2.6 A summary of the Corporate Risk Register is included in this report at Appendix A.  
  

P
age 95



 

Risk Management Update – Audit and Governance Committee, January 2023 Page | 5 
 
 

3. Embedding Effective Risk Management 
 
3.1 Key Activities 
  
3.1.1 Key strands of activity in the period have been: 
  

 Organising and chairing the quarterly Risk Group meeting, which has representatives from all Directorates, to discuss 
emerging risks, progress in managing key risk issues, and promote discussion/awareness of governance issues across 
the organisation. The group is proving particularly useful in identifying new risks emerging across the business, and 
where there are synergies or shared areas of risk. Recent meetings have identified that a number of Directorates 
continuing to identify risks such as supply chain and staffing capacity and that these are having an impact on delivery. 
Task and finish groups have been established as spin-offs from the Risk Group to look at supply chain and ethical 
investment risks and the organisational approaches to these. These discussions have informed the “stock” risks that are 
included in the revised risk register template and have been added to all existing Service Risk Registers; 
 

 Facilitating review and update of risk registers via meetings with individual executive directors and their management 
teams, which is particularly pertinent in terms of ensuring alignment with the Corporate Plan and Service Plans; 
 

 Facilitating the Executive Leadership Team discussions on Risk Management and leading the discussion on the update 
of the Corporate Risk Register; 

 

 Development and launch of a risk management skills training offer for senior managers, for which face-to-face delivery 
commenced in October 2022; 

 

 Provision of an e-learning package for all staff to provide general awareness of the principles of risk management; 
 

 Continuing to facilitate the review of service risks by members of the Senior Leadership Team;  
 

P
age 96



 

Risk Management Update – Audit and Governance Committee, January 2023 Page | 6 
 
 

 Providing corporate support in respect of risk management across the organisation, including facilitating risk workshops 
and supporting colleagues in their risk management activities;  

 

 Maintenance of a “SharePoint” folder for each Directorate to access and update risk registers in one dedicated location;  
 
3.2 Implementation of the Corporate Risk Management Policy and Handbook 
 
3.2.1 Following its approval by this Committee at its September meeting and by Merseytravel in October 2022, the Corporate Risk 

Management Policy and Handbook was issued to all Senior Managers via the I4P system. It is pleasing to note that it has 
been read and accepted by over 75%.  
 

3.2.2 The Risk Manager has attended each Executive Director’s Management Team meeting in the quarter. This has 
encompassed summarising the key changes to the Corporate Risk Management Policy and Handbook; including the 
addition of the “stock risks” to the risk register template; and encouraging members of each management team to read the 
revised policy and promoting the e-learning package and face-to-face training available. 
 

3.2.3 Each service risk register has been reviewed by the Risk Manager, suggestions added where necessary and an email was 
circulated to all Heads of Service/Assistant Directors to request that they review those suggestions and undertake any 
necessary updates. 

 
3.3 Audit of Risk Management 

 
3.3.1 During 2021-22, Internal Audit conducted a review of the organisation’s risk management arrangements. The overall opinion 

for this work was a Minor organisational risk, and there were a number of recommendations made and these, along with an 
update on the progress being made to implement the actions, are detailed in the table below. All recommendations have now 
been implemented. 

 
 Recommendation Implementation Date Progress 

1. The wording included in the Risk Management Policy should 
be reviewed, to determine whether all key areas of the 

31 August 2022 Completed 

P
age 97



 

Risk Management Update – Audit and Governance Committee, January 2023 Page | 7 
 
 

 Recommendation Implementation Date Progress 

organisation are encapsulated as part of the requirement to 
produce a Service Risk Register. Any update to the 
wording/requirement should be approved as part of the next 
review of the Policy; and any new applicable areas of the 
organisation notified accordingly. A list of agreed service 
areas, for which a Risk Register is required, should be utilised 
as part of implementing Recommendation 02. 

The revised Corporate Risk Management Policy 
and Handbook includes reference to lead 
officers.  

2. The applicable 'risk register' folders within Teams/SharePoint, 
should be reviewed and updated, to ensure each contains the 
correct Risk Registers (i.e., for the directorate; and all are 
correctly named), with access and permissions appropriately 
assigned to relevant officers. 

31 October 2022 Completed 
The risk registers within the SharePoint site 
have been re-reviewed in line with the current 
structure (published on "One Place") and are 
now consistent with that structure. We have a 
process in place for identifying future changes 
and the SharePoint site will be reviewed on a 
quarterly basis and/or when a revised structure 
is published.  
 

3. Advice should be sought (likely to be from the organisation's 
Senior Information Management Officer) to determine whether 
Service Risk Registers could, for example, be subject to a 
Freedom of Information request, and reach the public domain.  
 
Steps should be taken in response to the advice provided, 
primarily: 
- notifying officers responsible for Service Risk Registers 
Heads of Service/Assistant Directors of the outcome; 
- updating the Risk Management Policy to reflect the advice; 
- ensuring the content of Service Risk Registers is reviewed 
and deemed appropriate (depending upon the advice provided, 
it may be that the information contained within some Registers 
needs to be scaled back; or alternatively, it may that additional 
information can now be included). 
 

31 July 2022 Completed 
 
The matter has been clarified and no further 
action was deemed necessary. 

4. The Risk Manager should take steps to ensure a robust Risk 
Register is in place for each applicable area of the organisation 

31 December 2022 Completed 
 

P
age 98



 

Risk Management Update – Audit and Governance Committee, January 2023 Page | 8 
 
 

 Recommendation Implementation Date Progress 

(by the end of Q1 2022/23). Formal feedback should be 
provided to the relevant manager and Executive Director in 
those instances where it is felt the Risk Register does not meet 
expectations and/or has not been produced. Reminders should 
be issued on a quarterly basis to prompt Risk Registers being 
reviewed and updated; and feedback provided to Executive 
Directors where there is evidence of non-compliance. 

Each service risk register has been reviewed by 
the Risk Manager, and suggestions added 
where necessary. All Heads of Service/Assistant 
Directors have been requested to review those 
suggestions and undertake any necessary 
updates. Attendance at Directorate Management 
Teams has also provided support. 
 
It is intended that this review will be repeated on 
a rolling monthly basis, with a quarterly review 
reminder also being sent to supplement this. 
 
 

5. The Risk Register template should be reviewed, and a decision 
taken as to whether the format can be enhanced, in order to: 
- facilitate the inclusion of comments (by both the ‘Risk Owner’ 
and/or the ‘Risk Team’) in a more effective manner; and  
- clearly flag where an amendment has been made that 
impacts upon the risk ‘rag’ rating. 

31 August 2022 Completed 
 
Two additional columns have been added to the 
revised risk register template to facilitate this. 

 
3.7 The reports to this Committee will continue to give an overview of the progress being made in delivering the activities above, 

and the effectiveness of these actions in increasing the level to which effective risk management arrangements are embedded 
into the organisation. 

 

P
age 99



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

 

 

CORPORATE RISK REGISTER 2022-23 
 

Audit and Governance Committee 

25 January 2023 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

P
age 101



 

 

 

CORPORATE RISKS 

  

Risk 1

Accountability

There is risk that the Combined 
Authority does not develop and 
maintain sufficient capacity to 

deliver its obligations and 
responsibilities

Risk Owner: Executive Director of 
Investment and Delivery

Residual Score 16

Risk 2

Resilience

There is a risk that the Combined 
Authority fails to develop and 

maintain robust arrangements to 
ensure business resilience and 

continuity

Risk Owner: Executive Director of 
Corporate Development and 

Delivery

Residual Score 20

Risk 3

Environment

There is a risk that the City Region 
does not achieve its ambition of 
being net zero carbon by 2040

Risk Owner: Executive Director of 
Policy, Strategy and Government 

Relations

Residual Score  20

Risk 4

Transport

There is a risk that the role of 
transport in supporting the social, 

economic and environmental 
objectives of the City Region is not 

maximised

Risk Owner: Executive Director of 
Place

Residual Score 20

Risk 5

Economic 
Prosperity

There is a risk that the Combined 
Authority does not contribute 

positively to economic prosperity 
within the City Region

Risk Owner: Executive Director of 
Investment and Delivery

Residual Score 20

Risk 6

Financial 
Sustainability

There is a risk that financial 
pressures will impact negatively 
on the financial sustainability of 

the Combined Authority

Risk Owner: Executive Director of 
Corporate Services

Residual Score 20

P
age 102



 

Risk 1: Accountability 
 
There is risk that the Combined Authority does not develop and maintain sufficient capacity to deliver its obligations and 
responsibilities 
 
Risk Owner: Executive Director of Investment and Delivery 

 

  

Potential impact: reputational damage, further devolution jeopardised, loss of current and future government funding/clawback, positive 
impacts for City Region are not maximised, withdrawal of Constituent member, resourcing/capacity of funding programmes could be 
inadequate due to nature of unknown or forthcoming bids 

Risk Score Impact Likelihood Total Four T’s 

Inherent 5 5 25 Terminate Treat Tolerate Transfer 

Residual 4 4 16     

Target 4 2 8  X   
 

Controls: 
Assurance Framework approved by Government, delivery track record, for example Getting Building Fund, Adult Education Budget, 
Households into Work, use of 'single pot' approach with freedom and flexibility to manage funding deadlines, regular reporting of 
performance to relevant delivery boards to identify and resolve barriers to delivery, Annual Conversation with Government and associated 
feedback, resource funding to support delivery of projects, internal resources identified, quarterly SIF / Growth Directors update meetings, 
resources agreed for transport development team, ELT regular discussions relating to internal capacity / resources. 

Action Plan Review Date RAG 

Strengthen collaborative approach with Local Authorities to support and develop delivery capacity and 
encouraging the use of pre-development funding offer 
 

31 March 2023  

Explore wider capacity and identify responsibilities and/or key roles including consideration of shared 
resources (procurement, legal etc) to improve efficiency of routes to delivery (working with all Directorates via 
ELT)  

Recently established Task and Finish Procurement Group to consider delivery aspects for routes to delivery / 
efficiencies - Completed 
 

Action plan following report from Task and Finish Procurement Group approved by ELT and to be 
implemented 

Using opportunities to develop a shared vision with Local Authorities   
 

P
age 103



 

Risk 2: Resilience 

There is a risk that the Combined Authority fails to develop and maintain robust arrangements to ensure business resilience 
and continuity 

Risk Owner: Executive Director of Corporate Development and Delivery 

 

 

  

Potential impact: Reputational damage, potential fines and recovery costs, increased insurance premiums/contraction of future cover, 
damage to public confidence, impact on economic recovery and prosperity of the City Region, negative impact on organisation's ability to 
deliver on its objectives and knock-on potential effect on future devolution  

Risk Score Impact Likelihood Total Four T’s 

Inherent 5 5 25 Terminate Treat Tolerate Transfer 

Residual 5 4 20     

Target 4 2 8  X   
 

Controls: 
Suite of supporting ICT policies, business continuity arrangements detailed in Business Continuity Policy, regular business continuity desk 
top exercises, member of the Local Resilience Forum (LRF), Cyber Essentials Plus accredited, internal Resilience Group established. 
 

Action Plan Review Date RAG 

Arrange IOSHH training using risk management days available from insurers 31 March 2023  

Deliver the transformation programme for senior managers  

Develop the scope / specification for the Business Continuity training for Senior Managers - Completed 

Roll out first phase of Business Continuity training to senior managers / resilience group 

Implement the lessons learned from the most recent desktop exercise (theme: energy blackout) 

Deliver the Cyber Security Action Plan 
 

P
age 104



 

Risk 3: Environment  

There is a risk that the City Region does not achieve its ambition of being net zero carbon by 2040 

Risk Owner: Executive Director of Policy, Strategy and Government Relations 

 

Potential impact:  Potential Impact - reputational damage, negative economic impacts for the City Region, increased costs for the 
organisation and associated budgetary impacts 

Risk Score Impact Likelihood Total Four T’s 

Inherent 5 5 25 Terminate Treat Tolerate Transfer 

Residual 4 4 20     

Target 4 3 15  X   
 

Controls: 
“Pathway to Net Zero” document published, lobbying of Government for funding, development of sustainable transport solutions, Net Zero 
Delivery Board established, climate partnership involving external partners, climate and renewable energy portfolio role established. 
 

Action Plan Review Date RAG 

Net Zero Carbon approach incorporated into all policy development 
 

31 March 2023 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Net Zero Carbon approach to SIF projects to be developed 
 

Develop an affordable Net Zero delivery plan for 3-5 years 
 

Establish next phase of tidal project in conjunction with other renewable clean sources 
 

Stock risk to be added to all service risk registers for consideration by Heads of Service/Assistant 
Directors and project leads - completed 

Develop a Net Zero performance monitoring framework 
 

Roll out climate awareness training across all Directorates 
 

Develop a delivery plan for the de-carbonisation of the Combined Authority estate 

P
age 105



 

Risk 4: Transport  

There is a risk that the role of transport in supporting the social, economic, and environmental objectives of the City Region is 
not maximised 

Risk Owner: Executive Director of Place 

 

Potential Impact - Reputational damage arising from lost opportunities, potentially significant financial impacts, impact on service, provision and 
service modernisation, impact on the City Region's competitiveness and associated impact on employment and prosperity, increased funding in 
transport causes increased work streams across all aspects of transport (accumulation risk) resulting in silo working / duplication, increased 
subsidies in relation bus network subsidy 

Risk Score Impact Likelihood Total Four T’s 

Inherent 5 5 25 Terminate Treat Tolerate Transfer 

Residual 5 4 20     

Target 5 3 15  X   
 

Controls: Delivery Boards established which include regular reporting on performance to identify and resolve barriers to delivery of key projects, 
Directorate Plan that aligns to Corporate  Plan priorities, service specific plans to both manage business as usual and new project activities, 
qualified and expert staff delivering a range of transport-related services, including overseeing and operating the rail network, the bus network, the 
active travel network,  the key route network (including tunnels) and the Mersey Ferries, appropriate Level of resource / capacity  identified, 
ongoing work with transport partners / operators to maintain and improve service delivery, established business continuity and contingences plans 
for our directly operated services, recording and monitoring of use across all modes, changing services to reflect demand, ongoing negotiations 
with bus operators to consider medium term stability on lead in to bus reform. 

Action Plan Review Date RAG 

Work with Executive Director of Corporate Development and Delivery to establish interconnecting activities on 
resilience relating to transport (link to Risk 2) - Completed 

31 March 2023  

Ensure transport solutions align to the wider Place agenda 
 

Improve evidence and intelligence to prioritise schemes /services and make evidence-based decisions 
 

Develop an investment programme on directly operated assets to ensure service continuity – Completed 
 

Maximise potential of digital technology on the transport network 
 

P
age 106



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Seek non-mode specific solutions to issues – employing a joined-up approach to build capacity and resources 
in the right place to ensure delivery objectives are met 
 

Ensure that all transport activity and investment strive to contribute to Net Zero ambition 

Work with Executive Director for Corporate Services to address the cumulative financial risks associated with 
evolving methods of transport delivery (link to Risk 6) 

P
age 107



 
 

Risk 5: Economic Prosperity 

There is a risk that the Combined Authority does not contribute positively to economic prosperity within the City Region 

Risk Owner: Executive Director of Investment and Delivery 

 

 

 

 

 

Potential impact:  Negative impacts on employment and prosperity for residents and businesses in the City Region, reputational damage, 
impact on future funding and extent of devolution, damage to stakeholder relationships and confidence placed in the organisation to deliver. 

Risk Score Impact Likelihood Total Four T’s 

Inherent 5 5 25 Terminate Treat Tolerate Transfer 

Residual 5 4 20     

Target 5 2 10  X   
 

Controls: 
Plan for Prosperity sets out priorities for economy and investment, Government engagement to ensure understanding of funding streams 
required to support economic growth and influence prosperity, Delivery Boards established, Assurance Framework, Monitoring and Evaluation 
Framework, use of SIF funding to support vulnerable communities. 

Action Plan Review Date RAG 

Embed Plan for Prosperity and keep under review so that content remains current and relevant 31 March 2023  

Increased engagement with private sector, ensuring increased partnership/investment in growth projects  
 

Develop and deliver growth projects on prioritised basis 
 

Horizon scanning for funding opportunities to support economic growth 

Develop longer term view and strengthen linkages to the Investment Strategy 
 

P
age 108



 

Risk 6: Financial Sustainability  

There is a risk that financial pressures will impact negatively on the financial sustainability of the Combined Authority 

 
Risk Owner: Executive Director of Corporate Services 

 

 

Potential impact: Reputational damage, damage to stakeholder relationships and confidence placed in the organisation to deliver, unable to 
delivery on key priorities, positive impacts for City Region are not maximised 

Risk Score Impact Likelihood Total Four T’s 

Inherent 5 5 25 Terminate Treat Tolerate Transfer 

Residual 5 4 20     

Target 5 2 10  X   
 

Controls: Budget monitoring and reporting processes, Reserves Policy, and strategy for use of reserves, Constitution and Financial 
Procedure Rules in place, income and expenditure controls, Delegated Authority and Scheme of Delegation in place, financial risk and 
reserves embedded into reporting, SIF Assurance Framework, established process for monitoring economic influences (i.e., Inflation, cost of 
living etc). 

Action Plan Review Date RAG 

Implement and maintain a dynamic Medium Term Financial Plan  31 March 2023  

Develop organisational approach to the identification and delivery of budget efficiencies and income 
opportunities 
 

Investigate opportunities for commercial income – Completed 
 

Develop sustainable models for addressing the cumulative financial risks associated with evolving methods 
of transport delivery (working with Place Directorate) (Link to Risk 4) 
 

Collaborate with constituent Local Authorities to understand both the individual and collective financial 
standing given the continued economic uncertainty / financial settlement for 2023/24 

P
age 109



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting held on 30 November 2022
	5 Audit Progress Update
	Enc. 1 for Audit Progress Update

	6 Anti-Money Laundering Protocol
	Enc. 1 for Anti-Money Laundering Protocol

	7 Internal Audit Update
	Enc. 1 for Internal Audit Update

	8 Risk Management Update
	Enc. 1 for Risk Management Update
	Enc. 2 for Risk Management Update


